
PLANNING COMMITTEE
10.00 am

THURSDAY
8 JULY 2021

MEETING PAPERS





PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 8 July 2021
VENUE: Council Chamber, Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

2.  APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRPERSON Andrea Griffiths

3.  APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRPERSON Andrea Griffiths

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Andrea Griffiths
To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests 
(including their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the 
Code of Conduct. Members who have an interest to declare are 
asked to complete the Declarations of Interests form at the back 
of the chamber.

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is Thursday 1st 
July 2021.

6.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which 
are within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 
Thursday 1st July 2021.

7.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 16) Andrea Griffiths
The Committee is asked to approve the minutes from the 
previous meeting.  



Date Published: 28 June 202128/06/21

8.  LIMEKILN FARM MIDDLE LYPIATT STROUD GL6 7LR  
APPLICATION REFERENCE: 20/0056/STMAJW (DISTRICT 
REFERENCE S.20/2711/CM) (Pages 17 - 64)

Nick Bainton

The Committee is asked to consider the proposed use of a field 
as pet cemetery.  The use of site as waste transfer station for the 
temporary storage of clinical waste; retention of 2no. Cremators 
for clinical waste burning (abp cat 1 material domestic pets) and 
extended office building, together with associated works.  

9.  ENFORCEMENT REPORT (Pages 65 - 70)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Andy Birchley

10.  DELEGATED DECISIONS REPORT (Pages 71 - 76)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Sarah Pearse

NOTES

MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Paul Baker, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Alastair Chambers, Cllr Linda Cohen, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, 
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Chris McFarling, Cllr Graham Morgan, 
Cllr Dominic Morris, Cllr Gill Moseley, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and 
Cllr Susan Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 328509
 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the 
meeting. 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact  Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Unit 
: 01452 324206 e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training 
before they can sit on the Committee and take part in discussion and vote. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 18 March 
2021 commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford 
(Chairman)
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst

Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Cllr Alan Preest and Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Parsons declared he was a member of Cotswold Conservation.

2. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.  

3. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No Member’s questions had been received. 

4. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the Minutes of the meeting held 10th September 2020 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairperson.  

5. APPLICATION NO: 20/0032/CHR3MJ SITE: LAND BETWEEN FARM 
LANE/KIDNAPPERS LANE, CHELTENHAM, GLOS 

Page 1

Agenda Item 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

A summary of the application was presented by Sarah Pearse, Principal Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book).  

It was explained that a planning application, number 20/0032/CHR3MJ for the 
variation of condition 2 (Scope of the Development) had been made relating to 
planning consent 19/0058/CHR3MJ dated 21/07/2020 [for construction of a new 6 
forms of entry secondary school building, with a new all-weather pitch, sports 
playing fields, a multi-use games area, onsite parking and other associated works]. 
A substitution of revised plans to show increased number of photovoltaic cells  (PV) 
and a minor amendment to the proposed external compound within the grounds of 
the school, on land between Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire.

Members were asked to recall the planning application for the proposed new school 
19/0058/CHR3MJ which was determined by the Planning Committee on the 14th 
May 2020. The determination was subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement to secure biodiversity offset land.   This was completed and signed on 
the 17th July 2020. The planning permission certificate was issued on 21st July 
2020. At that time, whilst not forming part of the submitted proposals, the Applicant 
committed to improving the sustainability credentials of the building to a net zero 
carbon emission with an energy performance certificate rating of ‘A’. It was to 
address these issues that this further application had been made and was before 
Committee for determination.

The Committee were advised that a written application had been made to seek a 
judicial review of the planning decision19/0058/CHR3MJ. On 29th October 2020 the 
High Court refused permission to proceed with the judicial review claim.  On 5th 
November 2020 the Claimant requested a renewal of their application to be heard 
by way of oral hearing. The oral hearing was initially listed to be heard on the 15th 
December 2020. However, this was postponed until 23rd February 2021, when 
Judge HHJ Cotter granted leave for judicial review on one point of the claimant’s 
submission only, in respect of valued landscape. The date for the hearing was the 
16th March and was set down for a day, recognising the urgency to conclude this 
matter. The claimant sought to withdraw their claim and on the 15th March the High 
Court issued a sealed Consent Order, advising  that the hearing scheduled for the 
16th March had been vacated and the judicial review  was now concluded.  

The Principal Planning Officer ran through the basic proposal, then moved on to 
describe the site,  surroundings and showed  some more illustrations of the 
proposal.  Members viewed an artist’s impression of what the approved new school 
would look like. 

This application sought to substitute amended plans which responded directly to the 
County Council’s commitment to address the climate change emergency. The 
approved scheme included a small array of PV cells upon the roof. This together 
with a fabric first design philosophy already achieved significant betterment when 
compared with the 2013 building regulation requirements.  The revisions proposed 
as part of this application included covering the whole of the proposed roof with PV 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

cells, in so doing lifting the sustainability credentials of the building to a net zero 
carbon emission with an energy performance certificate rating of ‘A’.

The Committee viewed a picture at slide 3, which displayed the approved roof plan 
and the extent of the PV panels.

It was explained that this proposal would introduce additional PV cells and increase 
the height of the roof parapet wall. The area covered by PV panels would increase 
from 650m² to 1,500 m². The parapet wall would increase by 450mm on the main 
classroom buildings and 575mm on the main hall. This proposal would introduce 
PV panels onto the roof of the classrooms forming the sides of the ‘U’ shape and in 
addition to those already approved on the main part of the building between the 
halls. There would be no panels on the sports hall or the main hall roof.  In addition, 
two extra fire escapes would be provided which would be screened from view by 
the parapet edge.

At the request of the Academy Trust the size of the storage compound, had been 
increased, thus the opportunity had been taken within this application to seek 
approval for that minor amendment. Slide 6 showed the approved compound.

Slide 7 showed the proposed amendment. The requirement for a larger compound 
resulted from a review of the storage requirements undertaken by the Balcarras 
Academy trust.

It was noted that the application site remained the same as the previous 
application, and the land within the applicants control was displayed at slide 8.  
This was also included the location of the ecology/ biodiversity offset land, which 
was covered by the Section 106 Agreement.

A location plan at slide 9 gave an aerial photograph, which displayed the lanes, 
relevant sites etc. in order to orientate the Committee. 

The proposed School site was located within the Leckhampton area on the 
southern outskirts of South Cheltenham. The 5.66 Ha site was roughly rectangular 
in shape, which largely comprised of fields which had been used for arable 
agricultural purposes and equestrian use.  

A former plant nursery was located to the north of Kidnappers Lane. Existing 
residential properties lay on the west side of Farm Lane comprising predominantly 
of dormer bungalows, all east facing towards the site. Views of the site from these 
units were currently screened by the existing established hawthorn hedge that 
bordered the west boundary of the site.

The site was not within a protected landscape; however the Green Belt (GB) and 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) shared a boundary, on the southern 
side of Church Road which lay approximately 300m from the site. A prominent 
feature of the AONB and the surrounding landscape was Leckhampton Hill which 
incorporated a large footpath network that afforded views across the site towards 
Cheltenham. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Members were advised that the material considerations of policy, need, highways 
and transport, landscape impact including the AONB, ecological impact, 
archaeological impact, heritage impact, design and amenity were considered in full 
in the original report and were discussed in full at the Planning Committee in May 
2020. The principle of development was established at that Committee and through 
the subsequent granting of planning permission upon completion of the planning 
agreement to secure the biodiversity offset land, by decision notice dated 21st July 
2020. The site was identified in Policy MD4 of the adopted Cheltenham Plan.

The material considerations relevant to this application related not to the siting of a 
new school in this location as that had been established, but the potential 
landscape and visual impact of the proposed additional PV panels on the roof and 
the potential glint and glare arising from them, together with the increase in the 
height of the parapet.

Slide 10 displayed a photograph taken from Leckhampton Hill. The school site 
could be seen in the centre of the photo. The recent Redrow development with the 
red rooves was to the west. In the foreground were the grey farm buildings adjacent 
to the Moat, the scheduled monument.  Slide 12 showed a photograph overlooking 
the site, and gave a more panoramic view across Cheltenham.

The PV cells would cover the majority of the available roof area and increase the 
height of the roof parapet wall. It was explained that the parapet wall would 
increase by 450mm on the main classroom buildings and 575mm on the main hall.
The roof edge parapet had been increased in size to provide a safe working 
environment to any operative that needs to visit the roof for maintenance and to 
screen the solar array from view.  

This slide 13 showed the approved scheme parapet level with the dotted red line. 
The view showed the main entrance approach just south of the junction of Farm 
Lane and Kidnappers Lane.

Slide 14 also showed the same view but with the increased parapet level. The red 
dotted line illustrated the approved scheme parapet level.  The measurements were 
noted as 450 mm increase (approximately 6 bricks deep) above the main entrance 
and the classrooms and 575mm (just under 8 bricks deep) on the main hall roof. 

It was evident that the brickwork became slightly taller and the proportion of the 
brickwork above the first floor windows to the parapet coping was larger. The 
parapet also provided screening to the mechanical engineering equipment that 
would be on the roof.

A vertical louvered screen provided both screening and ventilation to the air source 
heat pumps which sat behind that part of the building.  The Committee received 
comparative pictures of the approved and amended schemes.  

Slide 16 demonstrated the additional height on the parapet had minimal effect on 
the overall perception of the building in terms of height and scale.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Slides 17 to 19 illustrated the artist’s impressions and displayed aerial views 
showing the PV panels, with Kidnappers Lane to the right of the slide and the 
pedestrian entrance in the foreground.

Slide 20 showed an aerial view of the PV panels from the south and the playing 
field with Farm Lane to the left of the slide. It was explained the approved scheme 
didn’t have PV panels above the classroom blocks.

It was explained the possible effects of glint and glare arising from the solar PV 
development on the roof of the proposed Cheltenham Secondary School had been 
assessed. It related to the possible impact of glint and glare upon surrounding 
dwellings, pedestrians on the nearby Cotswolds public rights of wayand aviation 
activity associated with Gloucestershire Airport. The officer’s report described the 
findings in detail in paragraphs 8.15 to 8.28. This included the locations of the 
nearest dwelling receptors. 

Members were informed there were no impacts upon pedestrians or upon the 
aviation receptors for both the approaches, runways and air traffic control tower.  
Solar reflections were geometrically possible towards seven out of the 12 assessed 
dwelling receptors (see sections 8.15 to 8.28 of the officer’s report); however, 
effects were only predicted to be experienced at dwellings represented by two 
dwelling receptors along Farm Lane in the immediate vicinity of the school. Based 
on a conservative approach, it was assumed that partial views of the panels were 
possible, a moderate impact was predicted, however no mitigation was 
recommended because the duration of effects would be significantly or entirely 
reduced by the identified screening; and the effects could only be experienced from 
the upper floors of the dwellings due to the existing vegetation and proposed native 
hedgerows.

The Committee noted no objections had been received from statutory consultees 
and no public comments had been made. 

The County Planning Authority  (CPA)considered that the design of the proposed 
new school, through the use of appropriate materials and technology together with 
innovative design, had met the requirements of Paragraph 150 (b) of the NPPF3 
which sought to ensure that “new development should be planned for in ways that 
can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, 
orientation and design.” It was explained that the amendment to the approved 
design would contribute towards meeting the Council’s Climate Change Strategy.

Members were advised that some of the wording of the conditions had changed 
since the original permission was issued. This was in recognition of the submission 
of schemes which had been approved in writing for conditions 14, 16 and 23 of 
compliance with condition applications. The conditions had been amended 
accordingly to ensure compliance with the approved schemes. Since the report was 
written, submissions had also been approved for conditions 12 (materials) and 26 
(hedgerow planting).  It was confirmed that these amendments had been circulated 
to members of the Committee prior to the meeting for consideration.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

The case officer concluded that planning permission should be granted for the 
variation of condition 2 in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992, for the reasons set out in sections 8.69 to 8.74 
of the report and subject to the conditions set out in section 9.1 of the report and 
the existing planning agreement being endorsed.

The Chairman invited registered speakers to address the Committee.  The 
facilitator recapped the order of the speakers for the benefit of the public watching 
via YouTube.  

County Councillor Iain Dobie (The Head of Democratic Services presented the 
speech in Cllr Dobie’s absence): 

“I have been a supporter of the High School Leckhampton throughout my time as 
county councillor representing the area.

When I saw the original plans for the new school I noted that they could have been 
“greener”. They were not in full conformity with GCC and U.K. government 
statements of intent to commit to radical reduction of CO2 emissions. 

At meetings at Shire Hall I therefore pushed for the planned gas heating system for 
the new school to be replaced by a modern heat pump and for solar panels to be 
included in its design.

These improvements have subsequently been incorporated into the latest plans, 
which are now before this committee. 

The roof-based solar panels are unobtrusive and will make a significant contribution 
to making this new school the “greenest” secondary in Gloucestershire. I trust they 
will be endorsed by the committee.”

The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentation. It was 
noted there were no member questions relating to the application.   

The Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor Wheeler was content with the Officers recommendation and proposed 
that the Committee accept it.  He added that the increased height of the parapet 
would be unnoticeable and any glare would only be on a bright sunny day.  He 
recognised that the increase in green credentials was a magnificent triumph for the 
County and he echoed Cllr Dobie’s statement.  

Councillor Hirst concurred that it was a remarkable application and the pupils who 
attend the school should be proud of it.  

Councillor Morgan was pleased with the application and recognised the green 
credentials.  

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Councillor Fisher welcomed the application and felt it was a step in the right 
direction for the County.  He recognised there were high standards of education in 
Cheltenham and hoped it continued throughout the county, as such he fully 
supported the application.  

Councillor Cordwell supported the application and moved to second Councillor 
Wheeler’s proposal to accept the officer recommendation.  It was noted that Cllr 
Cordwell had also read the glint and glare report.  

On being put to the vote the application was unanimously passed in favour of the 
officer’s recommendation.  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That planning permission be granted for the variation of condition 2 in 
accordance with Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992, for the reasons set out in sections 8.69 to 8.74 of the report 
and subject to the amended conditions and the existing planning agreement being 
endorsed.  

At this juncture, the Committee took a brief adjournment.

The Committee reconvened at 10:40am

6. APPLICATION NO:18/0065/CWMAJM (NAUNTON QUARRY). SITE: BREEDON 
(NAUNTON) QUARRY, BUCKLE STREET, NAUNTON, GLOUCESTERSHIRE. 

A summary of the application was presented by Nick Bainton, Senior Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book).  The planning application reference 18/0065/CWMAJM 
for the southern extension including revision to the consented working 
arrangements with restoration to a combination of agricultural, nature conservation 
& geological interest, at Breedon’s (Naunton Quarry), Buckle Street, 
Gloucestershire

Slide 2 presented an image of the current operational quarry area, looking from the 
north towards the proposed extension area.  The proposal sought to create a 
southern extension to the current extraction area with revisions to the approved 
working and restored scheme. The proposed extension was expected to yield 
approximately 5.8 million tonnes of limestone. It was explained that combined with 
remaining consented reserve of 2.2 million tonnes (assessed at time of the 
submission of application details in 2018), the development would extend the life of 
the quarry to approximately 16 years.

Members were advised that Naunton Quarry was formally known as Huntsman’s 
Quarry but was renamed by the current mineral operator, and was located within 
the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) approximately 2 kms to 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

the north east of Naunton and 6 kilometres to the west of Stow on the Wold. The 
only entrance to the quarry was located directly off Buckle Street (3103), a class 3 
highway that runs in a north west to south east direction. The current extraction 
area at the quarry lay to the west of Buckle Street. The extension area was to the 
south of the current workings while the red line area of this application included the 
processing plant area and main access to the east of Buckle Street.

It was explained at slide 3, to the south there were a number of buildings 
associated with Summerhill Farm and Summerhill Cottage, approximately 350 
metres from the boundary of the application site, and nearby James Barn Farm, 
approximately 680 metres (still to the south) from the boundary of the application 
site.  It was recognised that the quarry had been operating since the early 1900s.  
The nearest residential property was Huntsman’s House, located to the east and 
south east of the application site, across Buckle Street, at a distance of 
approximately 280 metres to the proposed screening bund in Phase 2. 

The Committee were advised at slide 4, a bridleway ran alongside the west 
boundary of both the extension area and the existing quarry. A vegetated soil bund, 
with an extra section of periphery forestry planting effectively screens views into the 
existing quarry from the northern section of the public bridleway, leading south from 
the minor road linking Buckle Street with Guiting Power. This minor road formed the 
northern boundary of the existing quarry, Buckle Street formed the eastern 
boundary of the quarry area and the south boundary (the proposed extension area) 
was open fields, with very few features. The topography sloped downwards north to 
south across the existing mineral extraction area towards a transverse valley 
feature at the junction between the existing quarry and the extension, the land 
forming the proposed extension then rose steeply again to the south before 
reaching an elevated plateau beyond the southern site boundary. 

The photograph at slide 5 showed the method of breaking the rock, using a pecker 
attached to a 360 excavator and in the background, the ‘breakthrough’ location into 
the proposed extension area. 

The underpass was depicted at slide 6 which linked the east processing area with 
the west extraction area. This enabled quarry traffic to pass from one side of Buckle 
Street to another without causing risk to highway safety or disturbance on the local 
highway.  It was explained the underpass was initially constructed for the 1996 
planning permission, which permitted extraction to the west of Buckle Street. The 
applicant entered into a s106 agreement to provide for necessary highways works 
at this time, which also provided for the cost of removing the underpass following 
the cessation of mineral extraction. Due to the extended period of extraction now 
proposed with the southern extension, a variation or amendment will be required to 
that original agreement to account for the extra time and the greater costs 
anticipated at the time of it happening.

The Committee noted that this matter was unresolved, and the recommendation 
was made on the proviso that a variation or amendment to that legal agreement 
would be required prior to consent being issued.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Slide 7 displayed the current situation, in terms of the processing area to the east of 
Buckle Street, the current Quarry area to the west of Buckle Street and the 
proposed extension area to the south of the current quarry.

Slide 8 to 11, detailed the phased workings and slide 12 depicted the proposed 
restoration plan.  The Committee viewed a variety of slides that displayed the views 
from the surrounding areas, west and south of the extension site.  

Members noted slide 15 displayed the view from the southern boundary of the 
proposed extension. The marker post in the centre foreground marked the edge of 
the application boundary. The extraction limit was some way inside that marked, 
identified by a distinct set of marker flags. It was explained that all boundaries 
would be checked prior to commencement to ensure they were completely correct. 
In the right background was the existing quarry; to the left background were the 
stockpiles of Tinkers Barn Quarry. Further to the rear, on the horizon amongst the 
treeline was the Cotswolds Farm Park.

This photo at slide 16 showed the view of Summerhill from the very edge of the 
proposed boundary. At this point, a bund would be constructed and beyond that, 
the extraction area would be set back and be below ground level and the level of 
the bund.

The officer concluded that the recommendation was that planning permission be 
granted for  the southern extension including revision to the consented working 
arrangements with restoration to a combination of agricultural, nature conservation 
& geological interest, for the reasons summarised in paragraphs 7.106 to 7.111 of 
the report, subject to any prior amendment or variation to the existing section 106 
planning  agreement.  

The Chairman invited registered speakers to address the Committee.  The 
facilitator recapped the order of the speakers for the benefit of the public watching 
via YouTube.  

Mrs Caroline Mackness (Objecting): 
“I am deeply concerned about the proposed development at Breedon Naunton 
Quarry. 

I am speaking on behalf of 30 residents of Naunton and of Summerhill.

The nature of this special area will be detrimentally affected for many years. This 
both during the time of excavation and works and during the implementation of the 
mitigation works.

I believe the interests of big business are being put before the interests of  
1.Landscape and Amenity Value.   2.The natural flora and fauna that are part of the 
characteristics of this area.

In addition, I do not believe that the interests of those who live and work in this area 
are being adequately considered.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

The injurious affection to the landscape, the quiet enjoyment, value and operation 
of existing property, local business and households are being disregarded.

I am sure that the attendant reports to the application will be voluminous and state 
that there are no concerns that cannot and will not be mitigated, particularly by 
professional advisors who are acting on behalf of the applicant. We the local 
residents do not have the knowledge or financial resource to be able to provide 
such equally valid and opposite views.

These must be considered and I believe it is the responsibility of the Local Authority 
to facilitate this.

It is strange to me, particularly having regard to the actual injurious affection, loss of 
enjoyment, amenity and disturbance of previous works that the applicant does not 
have to fund a truly independent analysis. This to me and many others is grossly 
unfair and I believe that any determination without this, will effectively amount to the 
Planning Authority acting Ultra Vires.

Looking at a few specifics, the noise and dust will affect the equine population, 
together with the natural flora and fauna that may never recover.  The impact of the 
development on the local road network which is quite simply not fit for this purpose, 
will be detrimentally affected.  The quiet enjoyment of the residents will be 
decimated.

The short, medium and long term value of property will be affected. In the short and 
medium term the blight will be considerable.

I do not know whether some form of sequential test has been undertaken, or indeed 
is required, to establish whether there are other sites that could be developed in this 
way without the considerable harm that will be created at this location.

I would urge the Planning Authority to refuse consent, or at the very least defer this, 
and provide the local population , natural landscape, flora and fauna to be 
respected with a fund to enable a truly independent assessment.”

Mr Graeme King (Applicant): 
“Good morning Chairman and Members. 

My name is Graeme King and I am the Planning and Estates Manager for Breedon 
Southern Ltd the Applicant and current operator which is Naunton Quarry.

Breedon Southern Ltd acquired the various assets of Huntsman’s Quarries Ltd in 
May 2014 and with that acquisition came the employees and established operation 
of Naunton Quarry.  Since being in control, Breedon have operated in full 
accordance with the extant planning permissions.

As referred to in your Officer’s Report, quarrying at Naunton Quarry has and 
continues to perform a strategic role across the County, principally in the supply of 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

valued Cotswold limestone aggregate which helps supports Gloucestershire’s own 
land bank.

We believe, as corroborated by your Officer’s Report, that this Application has 
demonstrated compliance with the policies of the Minerals Local Plan and is 
consistent with the site allocation for Naunton Quarry adopted as part of the 
Development Plan in March 2020.  

The Planning Application before you request permission to extract 5.5 million 
tonnes of limestone. At current sales rates, would take place over a 16 year term. 
Central to the Application was a recognition and appreciation of the sensitive 
location within which Naunton Quarry is situated.  

Breedon have recently agreed to partner Naunton Parish Council and to jointly 
undertake a community tree planting scheme over part of its landholding. Whilst not 
referred to in the planning application details, the measure would nonetheless 
assist in bolstering natural screening along a boundary close to residential 
properties at Summerhill, as well as providing an important wildlife corridor link to 
existing woods and spinneys in the area. The idea is consistent with and supportive 
of the County Councils own aims of planting up to 35 million trees by the year 2030!

Quarrying and ancillary operations are carried out by a workforce of some 70 
people who are either employed directly on site or indirectly as is the case for 
hauliers. A significant majority of this workforce live locally making the quarry an 
important employer within its rural setting.  

The extension proposal was an EIA Development and has been subject of rigorous 
technical assessment and consultation with an array of specialists and, as 
comprehensively detailed within your Officer’s Report, Members should be assured 
that this scheme can be undertaken without harm to :-

 The valued landscape or environment. 
 those who live or work in proximity of the site; and 
 Without adverse effect upon the surrounding highway network.  

The Officers report clearly sets out how the development is to be controlled and the 
mitigation of potential effects has been embodied into a suite of planning conditions 
which will allow the development to proceed. The result is a scheme that can 
provide access to 5.5 million tonnes of a valued and much needed mineral resource 
whilst still remaining consistent with the Development plan policies and guidance 
set out at both national and local levels 

Finally, regardless of this planning applications outcome, the Company also intends 
to establish and facilitate a Local Liaison Group and invite representatives from 
Gloucestershire County Council, Cotswold District Council and local Parish 
Councils to those meetings. This will be an excellent forum to allow Local 
Councillors to understand the operations at Naunton Quarry and for Breedon to 
keep the Group informed of current as well as intended activities and for it to 
become an integral and valued part of the Community.”

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Mr Stephen Gower: Temple Guiting Parish Council: 
“I’m a Parish Councillor for Temple Guiting Parish Council which has commented 
extensively on this application with documents loaded to the GCC playing portal in 
February and December 2020.  The council is also involved in the quarry 
stakeholder group meeting held in January 2020, attended by quarry operators, 
local parish councils, CCB and GCC.  

Concerns focused on the effects that cluster of eight local quarries has on 
businesses, residents and visitors,  in a small area bounded by the B4077 and 
buckle street in the North of the Cotswold AONB.  Naunton Quarry is the largest of 
these and should be considered in the context of its contribution to the overall 
impact on the whole cluster, as well as individually.  TGPC welcomes the policy 
officer consultation response dated October last year the purpose of which is stated 
as being intended to support the case officer and to inform and overall 
recommendation for decision makers. 

 The policy officers report identified several items that are needed for the 
application to demonstrate policy compliance,  given the context of the area,  key 
areas of policy that are pertinent to this application   include DM02 cumulative 
impact, DM03 transport, MW02 relating to the production of in the Cotswold AoNB 
to maintain the heritage of the area and also in the MLP it notes that for the 
Naunton quarry,  it recommends that health impact assessment, to take into 
account impact on local communities on page 187.  

 We are concerned that case officers report does not adequately address these 
aspects, cumulative impact is probably our greatest concern, quoting policy officers 
response in October last year.  It states Naunton quarry is within an area containing 
a number of mineral workings and therefore the issue of cumulative impact is a 
valid one that needs to be sufficiently explored and the current body of evidence 
back in October, does not demonstrate that the issue has been sufficiently handled.  

 Yet the case officers has dismissed this report as well as representations from 
other local parish councils the CCB and CPRE and numerous individuals,  instead it 
quotes selectively from the applicant supporting documentation,  it states that 
because the operation is a continuing of existing operations, the impact on 
residential amenity will not be significant.  

As a consequence the case officer’s report failed significantly on several points.  It 
fails to address cumulative impacts in the wider context of the cluster of quarries 
using shared transportation routes and the sensitive locations along those routes. 
 Tree screening unfortunately in this case it doesn't help residents on the B4077, it 
fails to highlight the absence of traffic counts and the understatement that HGV 
movements to the North long buckle St and the B4077 in the applicant's transport 
statement.  

 However another quarry application in 2019 showed that there were 400 HGV 
movements per day through Ford and 320 per day along Buckle St.  The 
application suggests that only 20% of Naunton daily movements travel north but no 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

actual figures were presented, GCC highways were understandably unable to 
assess this application fully.  It also fails to acknowledge or mention the noise of the 
stone pecker with tonal elements; this is heard well away from the Naunton site and 
is specifically mentioned in the applicant's noise report.  

The UK government minerals website for noise assessment states that “where 
noise is a significant tonal element, it may be appropriate to set specific limits to 
control this aspect”.   It fails to include current and reasonably foreseeable activities 
as recommended by the policy officer.   

These would clearly include the reopening of Guiting quarry, application to double 
the output at Oathill, unrestricted HGV movements for reinstatement at Cotswold 
Hill, plus increases at Grange Hill and Tinkers Barn.   These have not been 
addressed in any part of the application or the case officer’s comments.  

 Based on international and national sources and the local context, a cumulative 
impact assessment should address the number and pattern of HGV movements 
across the area and changes overtime.  The impact on local communities and 
businesses could be established through a survey. Noise that goes beyond the 
quarry boundaries also includes noise along transport routes and more detailed 
assessments for sensitive locations are needed including noise, vibration and 
airborne pollution.  

This wouldn’t just be adjacent to the site but along the sensitive transport routes, 
quarry operators and local residents should provide input, but the final assessment 
must be independent all parties with an interesting results.  

 TPC is not supposed to quarrying, the council fully supports quarrying where it 
helps to maintain the local environments. This is consistent with national planning 
policies and quarrying in AONB, the council also accepts that some aggregate 
production is a consequence of those operations.  

 However, we believe the overall level of production from this cluster quarries 
should be balanced against the negative effects on this part of the AONB, until the 
effects of cumulative impacts of current quarrying operations are established,  it is 
not possible to judge whether the impact of this application or further developments 
across the cluster are balanced or not.  

 We believe that some steps could be taken to mitigate some of the cumulative 
impact across the area, including establishing and monitoring and traffic 
management area with restricted hours for HGV movements and reduced HGV 
speeds, implementing considerate driving agreements with all quarry operators.   
Applying rigorous standards for vehicle cleaning and sheeting, due to the lack of 
compliance with planning directives especially in the absence of cumulative impact 
assessment.  

 Temple Guiting Parish Council requests that any decision on this application is 
deferred until these failures are addressed as for the national and local policy 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

requirements this process could be completed very quickly with the right resources 
and cooperation of all parties.   Thank you.”  

Upper Slaughter Parish Committee (presented by the Head of Democratic 
Services): 
“Given our rurality, unreliability of internet and Covid restrictions, USPC would be 
pleased if the following could be read to Planning Committee on behalf of Cllr 
Cookson.

"Upper Slaughter Parish Council continues to work with neighbouring Parish 
Councils to understand the impact of all quarry activity in the area, and the impact 
of this planning application by Naunton Quarry.  Planning Committee is asked to 
note Upper Slaughter Parish Council's endorsement of comments presented by 
Temple Guiting Parish Council at this meeting.

We wholeheartedly agree with the call for a Cumulative Impact assessment, and 
express our concern that this has not been required in the Case Officer's 
recommendations.

Upper Slaughter Parish Council therefore calls for a deferral of this application to a 
future time to enable a Cumulative Impact assessment to be undertaken.  Thank 
you".

The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentation. 

Councillor Cordwell understood the principals of development under the MLP Plan.  
The case officer  advised the Committee that the site was an allocation in the MLP, 
therefore the principle has been established in policy terms, and consideration was 
therefore down to the individual impacts of the application.  

Councillor Parsons felt it was not just individual impacts, as the cumulative impact 
was very significant.  He asked if a formal cumulative assessment had been 
undertaken.  The  case officer explained that members should consider the 
application before them.  The impact of this quarry application was deemed to be 
very local and was immeasurable further away from the site.  Therefore, it was 
necessary to base a decision on the facts before members at this stage.  Councillor 
Parsons added that there were a cluster of quarries in this relatively small area, 
which would undoubtedly impact on the local area.  He asked if that was in 
accordance with the MLP and the NPPF.  The Committee were advised that this 
application had been ongoing for two years and was before committee based on 
the current technical information available.  

Councillor Wheeler questioned the volume of lorry movements.  Members were 
informed that it was a continuation of production at the site and the vehicle 
movements would remain the same, until greener fleet vehicles were installed.  

Councillor Cordwell remarked if the out remained the same then vehicle traffic 
would also remain the same.    

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

Councillor Fisher questioned the air pollution and the impact on the local equine 
industry.  It was noted the appropriate technical advisors had been consulted and 
no concerns were raised.  

Councillor Hale asked a question in relation to the Section 106 agreement and the 
maintenance of the underpass.  The case officer advised the Committee that a 
Section 106 agreement was in place for the underpass and maintenance and that 
lay with the quarry operator, this condition would continue in accordance with the 
application. 

Councillor Hirst required confirmation of the tonnages of material to be extracted.  
Members were notified that the site had 5.8m tonnes of reserves available.  

In response to a question regarding Ultra Vires, the Principal Lawyer advised the 
Committee the appropriate technical advice was before the Committee for its 
consideration, and was available to ensure sound decision making.  

The Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor Parsons felt that a Cumulative Impact Assessment (CIA) was required  
and proposed that this application be deferred for an independent CIA to be 
undertaken.  On there being no seconder, this motion was lost.  

Councillor Wheeler stated that nationally there was a requirement for minerals and 
the principle of extraction was already established through the MLP and he 
proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation.  

Councillor Cordwell seconded the proposal, he added that the principal had been 
decided by the MLP and that no additional CIA was necessary as the application 
was a continuation of the current operation and was conditioned within the report.  

Councillor Morgan referred to the report and also agreed it was a continuation of 
the current operation and added he was in favour of the application.  

Councillor Hale remarked there was no extra HGV movements and accepted the 
recommendation.  

Councillor Parsons added that he was not against the development per se but felt 
members should be aware of the impact the cluster of quarries had on the local 
area, tourism and residents.  He felt the committee should pay more attention to 
impact on the AONB and again requested a deferment for a CIA.  He noted there 
were many other quarry applications pending in the local area.  

The Chairman reminded the Committee that they could only consider the merits of 
the application before them.  

Councillor Cordwell explained that it was not possible to prevent this application 
because of applications that may arise in the future.  

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

Councillor Robinson added that he was also minded to accept the recommendation 
and he was pleased with the offer to set up the community liaison group and was 
sure the Quarry operator would be mindful of the issues raised during the meeting.  

Some members welcomed the suggestion from the operator to establish a local 
forum.  

The case officer advised the Committee that Condition 33 would be amended 
accordingly, as the reference to East and West were incorrect (referenced the 
wrong way round within the condition).  

On being put to the vote the application was passed (12 in favour, 1 abstention) 

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That planning permission be GRANTED for the southern extension including 
revision to the consented working arrangements with restoration to a 
combination of agricultural, nature conservation & geological interest, for the 
reasons summarised in paragraphs 7.106 to 7.111 of the report, subject to 
any prior amendment or variation to the existing Section 106 Planning  
Agreement.  

7. OTHER BUSINESS 

The Chairman wished to extend thanks to Cllr Dr John Cordwell for his knowledge, 
support and his exceptional service to GCC and wished him well in his retirement.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.50 am

Page 16



1

APPLICATION NO: 20/0056/STMAJW VALIDATION DATE: 14 June 2018

DISTRICT REF: S.20/2711/CM 

AGENT: Amity Planning, The Creative Quarter, Cardiff. CF10 1AF.

APPLICANT: Time Right Ltd, Limekiln Farm, Middle Lypiatt, Stroud, 
Gloucestershire. GL6 7LR. 

SITE: Limekiln Farm, Middle Lypiatt, Stroud, Gloucestershire. GL6 7LR.

PROPOSAL: The proposed use of field as pet cemetery. Use of site as waste 
transfer station for the temporary storage of clinical waste; 
retention of 2no. Cremators for clinical waste burning (abp cat 1 
material domestic pets) and extended office building, together with 
associated works.  

PARISH OF Brimscombe and 
Thrupp.

SITE AREA: 1.8Ha

GRID 
REF:

387268 (E)
204301 (N)

RECOMMENDATION: Planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons summarised in 
paragraphs 7.54 to 7.56 and subject to the conditions set out in section 8.0 of this report.

1.0 LOCATION

1.1 Limekiln Farm is located close to the small settlement known as Middle Lypiatt, 
equidistant between Stroud to the west and Bussage to the east.  Lime Kiln Farm 
lies 100 metres west of the crossroads in Middle Lypiatt, on the minor public 
highway running north to south through the locality. The application site is 
transected by the Parish boundary between Bisley and Lypiatt Parish to the north 
and Thrupp and Brimscombe Parish to the south.  Nether Lypiatt Manor is a Grade 
1 listed building, with associated grade 2 structures and is located 260 metres to the 
south of the southern boundary of the proposed burial field, across the minor road 
which is lined with mature hedgerows and stone walls. The proposed burial field is 
currently laid to grass.  

1.2 The vehicular access to Limekiln Farm crosses a field to the east of the farmyard 
and buildings, linking the application site to Middle Lypiatt.  Brimscombe and Lypiatt 
Footpath 1, a public footpath starts immediately to the west of the application site 
and runs westward towards Stroud. There is no interaction between the designated 
footpath route and the access for the application site.   

1.3 The site is roughly level and located on land between 205 and 210 metres Above 
Ordnance Datum (AOD).  The land rises gently from north to south in the vicinity of 

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



2

the application site, up to a spot height of 208 metres AOD approximately 200m 
southwest of the application site.  

Page 18



3

Page 19



4

1.4 The area surrounding the application site can be characterised as rural with 
agricultural fields, hedgerows and scattered woodland, farmhouses and isolated 
residential properties with gardens.  The nearest dwellings to the development are:

 LimeKiln Farm (house) is 20 m to the west;
 Little Limekilns is 42 m to the north west;
 The Limekilns is 50 m to the north west (adjoining Little Limekilns);
 The Heavens is 411 m to the south west;
 Havens Piece Cottage and September Cottage are 446m to the south west;
 Rifle Butts is 527 m to the north west;
 The settlement of Middle Lypiatt is 511 m to the north east;
 Meadow Cottage is 336 m to the east;
 Nether Lypiatt Manor is 468 m to the south east.

1.5 The application site forms part of a group of barns and outbuildings set within a yard 
which was formerly a farm, and is now in use by the applicant and a pet funerary 
service.  The reception office is located within a modernised detached, single storey 
building adjacent to and north west of the entrance to the farmyard.  A car park is 
located adjacent to the office, screened by a large agricultural style storage building, 
also in use associated with the business.  

1.6 The building which houses the incinerators, is a large agricultural barn, located to 
the south east of the site.  Side doors on the western elevation allow pedestrian 
access from the western elevation.  The storage building allows storage of materials 
and parking of vehicles in an enclosed location, without occupying allocated visitor 
spaces. 

1.7 The site is located within the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
landscape designation.  There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments in the vicinity 
of the application site.  The nearest listed buildings are the Grade 1 Nether Lypiatt 
Manor and the associated buildings, which are separately Grade 2 listed and 
located 468 metres to the south east of the application site, the Grade 2 Woodside 
located 580 metres to the east and Grade 2 Foresters Cottage located 660 metres 
to the south west.  According to the Environment Agency’s mapping, the site is 
located in Flood Zone 1and at low risk of flooding. 

1.8 There is one nationally designated Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) within 2 
km of the application site: The Rodborough Common SSSI, located 1.7km to the 
south west. The nearest part of any Locally designated Nature Reserve is the Bisley 
Road Cemetery, which is over 900 metres to the north west.  Dry Hill Wood is 
ancient woodland, located 600 metres to the south west of the site.

1.9 Whilst the site access does not traverse a public footpath, there are a number of 
footpaths and public rights of way in the locality, including the Brimscombe and 
Lypiatt Footpath 1, which has one end at the middle western boundary of the 
application site. 

2.0 THE PROPOSAL

Page 20



5

2.1 The applicants are the owners of a small animal cremation service (Time Right 
Limited) which operates from Limekiln Farm.  The service specialises in the 
cremation of small animals following natural death or euthanasia off the premises.  
The development to which this application relates is a county matter by virtue of the 
disposal of animal carcasses which do not originate on the applicants’ land and is 
not an ancillary agricultural activity which can be considered to be permitted 
development. The proposal includes an extension to the operations to provide a 
cemetery for pets. Because this use of land is technically classified as landfill, this is 
another dictating factor that the County Council deals with the application.

2.2 The incineration of animal carcasses has been undertaken on site since 1992, 
operating under a Stroud District Council permission for a number of years. Due to 
restrictions placed specifically upon the type of incinerator to be employed by 
planning permission S.4688(M), the matter was brought to the attention of the Local 
Planning Authority by the Stroud District Council Environmental Health Officer 
during a review. Considering the nature of the operations in detail, with the inclusion 
of the proposed cemetery, the matter was in turn brought to the attention of the 
County Council as Waste Planning Authority (WPA). The application therefore in 
part, seeks to consider the impact of the unauthorised incinerator, rather than the 
material use which has been taking place on site for almost 30 years. Refusal of the 
planning permission would result in a requirement for the operators to return to 
using a less advanced and efficient incinerator, if one could be found, with the 
associated anticipated regression in environmental protection.

2.3 The fall back position, should planning permission not be granted, is the 
continuation of the pet cremation service on site, because the principle of the use 
has been established on the land through previous Stroud District Council planning 
permissions. No pet cemetery would be permitted on site and waste would continue 
to be sent to commercial landfills. 

2.4 The incineration takes place within an existing building and no external changes are 
proposed, the proposal will utilise the existing on site infrastructure.  The building 
measures 24 m by 23 m (at its widest point) and has 3 sets of steel doors in the 
west elevation for a variety of accesses (deliveries and staff access).  The building 
has a convex corrugated profile sheeting roof which measures 4 m to the eaves and 
6 m to the ridge. The two incinerator stacks rise a further 2.5 metres above the ridge 
height, for a total height of 8.5 metres. The building has the appearance of an 
agricultural building.

2.5 The storage building measures 33 metres long by 28 metres wide. The eaves height 
is 4 metres and the ridge is 7 metres high.  This building features three large steel 
doors on the west elevation, used for accessing the storage space within the 
building. The building is used solely for the storage of dry goods associated with the 
operations and parking for the operators’ vehicles. 

2.6 The reception building is a single storey building, visually resembling the 
characteristics of a farm office. Internally, there are visitor waiting areas and office 
space. The parking provision on site is located on hardstanding adjacent to this 
office building, ten spaces laid out for visitors clear of the access road and the wider 
public highway network. 

Page 21



6

2.7 The bodies of animals are collected using the applicant’s customised white panel 
van.  Generally, there is one collection run per week, from local veterinary practices. 
The bodies of professionally euthanized animals are normally packaged in such a 
way to prevent leakage of fluids or materials in transit. There is sufficient parking 
and manoeuvring space for both the ‘Time Right’ vehicle and pre booked private 
vehicles to offload in close proximity to the incinerator building. 

2.8 The applicant has provided a very detailed document providing the specifications 
and operating parameters for the incinerators. This document can be found here on 
public access: 
https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?F
ilename=images%2f20_0056_STMAJW_SPEC_SA50_3V.PDF
The submissions are sufficiently detailed for the purposes of land use planning.  The 
combustion system is fully automated and any organic material placed in the unit is 
completely combusted with the production of carbon dioxide and water.  The 
process has been designed by the manufacturer to remove any potentially odorous 
organic compounds and ensure complete combustion of any hydrocarbon fuel.  The 
secondary incinerator functions in the same manner and can be used for single 
remains cremations, where the ashes need to be identified and returned to owners.

2.9 The waste resulting from the incineration would be ash representing up to 5% of the 
material combusted. Any ash not to be returned to owners, or laid to rest in the 
burial field would be transferred to sealed bins and collected by a waste collection 
company. All clinical waste associated with the processes is stored appropriately on 
site, prior to collection for approved off site disposal.

2.10 An additional 4 vehicular movements per day would be generated by visitors, with a 
maximum of 10 journeys when a burial is taking place. Burials are anticipated to be 
likely to occur approximately twice per calendar month. When combined with daily 
staff vehicular movements, the total baseline traffic flows associated with the 
existing operations is estimated to be a maximum of 24 movements per day. It is 
proposed that the operations take place during the hours of 0800 and 1800 hours 
Monday to Friday and 0800 and 1300 hours at weekends.  

2.11 The process is certified to British Standard EN 3316:1987, the UK Clean Air Act 
1999 and the EU animal by products Regulation 1069/2009 to not emit smoke or 
odour during standard operating conditions and emits 83 dba at 1 metre distance.  
The Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA), an executive agency of the 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs would regulate the process 
under the Animal By-products Regulations and operates under an Environmental 
Permit (ref LAPPC114).  

2.12 The incinerators used have ‘Type Approval’, which means that a government body 
confirms that a particular manufactured item meets required specifications and 
conforms to recognised safety standards.  A key criterion for approval is that gas 
from the process is raised in a controlled and homogeneous fashion, even under the 
most unfavourable conditions, to a temperature of 850oC.  It is a condition of APHA 
that temperature measurement requirements are specified and will be subject to 
inspection.

Page 22

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f20_0056_STMAJW_SPEC_SA50_3V.PDF
https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f20_0056_STMAJW_SPEC_SA50_3V.PDF


7

2.13 In regulatory terms, the control of pollution is a matter governed by the Environment 
Agency and the Local Planning Authority Environmental Health Officer. The WPA 
are to consider if the proposal is a satisfactory use of land, whilst making an 
assumption that matters covered by other regulatory bodies are well managed and 
monitored.

2.14 Whilst the matters outlined above relate to uses and development which has been 
ongoing in excess of 10 years, the proposal includes an additional element which 
requires planning permission in its own right: The burial (disposal) of pet carcasses 
to land. The applicant has selected a level field to the south east of the incinerator 
building to provide land capable of functioning as a pet graveyard where remains 
are permanently laid to rest. In planning land use terms, this use is classed as non 
hazardous landfill.

2.15 Memorials will be laid flat on the ground to designate individual graves. Given the 
location within the Cotswolds AONB, this is an important detail. 

Environmental Impact Assessment 

2.16 The development proposal is a type which falls within those listed in Schedule 2 of 
the Regulations, under Column 1 of Section 11(b) - ‘Installations for the disposal of 
waste (unless included in Schedule 1)’. The location with the Cotswolds AONB 
dictates that the thresholds in Column 2 are not applicable. The proposal was 
screened and considered not to represent EIA development. 

Further Information Submitted

2.17 During the processing of the planning application further information has been 
submitted by the applicant in response to requests for clarification by statutory 
consultees.

2.18 Following comments by the County Air Quality Advisor, the applicant submitted  
Machine Tech specification for the Incinerator Model SA50/3V which has triggered 
the application process. The technical document was received on 21st January 
2021.

3.0 PLANNING HISTORY

3.1 SDC has determined two planning applications relating to the veterinary business at 
LimeKiln Farm since 1992 – Planning permission S.4688 (N), with planning 
permission S.4688 (M) being granted in 1996.  The proposed development was first 
submitted to SDC under application references S19/1803/FUL and S19/1804/FUL 
and then both withdrawn for a consolidated application to be submitted to the 
County Council as the WPA as the proposal was deemed to fall within the definition 
of a ‘County Matter’. 

Application Ref Description of development Decision & 
date

Page 23



8

S.4688 (N) Stationing of incinerator for disposal of small 
animals. 

09.02.1993

S.4688 (M) Variation of cond (b) of consent S.4688 (M) to read 
‘No clinical waste other than animal remains shall 
be incinerated in the incinerator hereby permitted’

03.05.1994

96/240 4866 Variation of cond (b) of S.4688/M to read ‘No 
clinical waste other than animal remains shall be 
incinerated in the incinerator hereby permitted’ on a 
permanent basis.

Withdrawn
13.07.1998

4.0 PLANNING POLICY 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) originally published in March 2012 
has been revised most recently in February 2019 and replaces the NPPF previously 
revised in July 2018.  This revised document sets out the Government’s planning 
policies and how these should be applied with immediate effect.  The NPPF is a 
material consideration in planning decisions and must be taken into account.

4.2 Paragraph 7 advises that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development.  Sustainable development means that 3 
overarching objectives of building a strong and competitive economy, maintaining 
healthy and vibrant communities and protecting the environment need to be 
pursued.  

4.3 Paragraph 11 advises that decision takers should apply a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development by:  approving development proposals that accord with an 
up to date development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant 
development plan policies or the policies are out of date, granting permission unless 
the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provide a clear reason for refusing the proposed development or any 
adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

4.4 Paragraph 83 supports the rural economy allowing for sustainable growth and 
expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both through conversion of existing 
buildings and well designed new buildings, as well as the diversification of 
agricultural and other land based rural businesses.

4.5 Paragraph 108 advises in assessing proposals for development it should be 
ensured that a safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users, 
while paragraph 109 requires development should not be refused on highway 
grounds unless there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

4.6 Great weight is given in paragraph 172 to conserving and enhancing landscape and 
scenic beauty of AONBs which have the highest status of protection.

4.7 Paragraph 175 requires the protection and enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity and in determining application should avoid significant harm through 

Page 24



9

locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts, mitigate or as a last resort 
compensated otherwise permission should be refused.

4.8 Paragraph 180 advises that planning decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location, taking into account the likely effects of 
pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the 
potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the 
development.  In so doing they should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential 
adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development and avoid noise giving 
rise to significant adverse impact on health and the quality of life.  

4.9 The focus of planning decisions should be on whether the proposed development is 
an acceptable use of land rather than the control of processes or emissions where 
these are subject to separate pollution control regimes.  Planning decisions should 
assume that these regimes will operate effectively.

4.10 The NPPF does not contain specific waste policies as these are published in the 
National Planning Policy for Waste (Oct 2014) as part of the National Waste 
Management Plan for England.

National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)

4.11 The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) was issued in October 2014 and 
has not yet been subject to review like the NPPF.  The government expects that 
decisions on waste applications should have regard to policies in the NPPF so far 
as they are relevant.  When determining waste planning applications, WPA should 
only expect applicants to demonstrate the quantitative or market need for new or 
enhanced waste management facilities where proposals are not consistent with an 
up to date Local Plan.  In such cases, WPA should consider the extent to which the 
capacity of existing operational facilities would satisfy any identified need. 

4.12 The NPPW states that the Government is seeking a more sustainable and efficient 
approach to resource use and management and identifies positive planning as 
playing a pivotal role in achieving this.  In testing the suitability of sites in 
determining planning applications, WPA is asked to consider 12 locational factors 
set out in Appendix B of the document.  WPA should ensure that waste 
management facilities are well designed so that they contribute positively to the 
character and quality of the area in which they are located.  WPA are asked to 
recognise that proposals for incinerators can give rise to frustration when they do 
not reflect the aspirations and vision of local communities and should expect 
applicants to demonstrate that waste disposal facilities will not undermine the 
objectives of the Local Plan through prejudicing the movement up the waste 
hierarchy.  They are also urged to bear in mind the type and scale of the waste 
management facility.  The 12 locational considerations are:

a) Protection of water quality and resources and flood risk management;
b) Land instability;
c) Landscape and visual impacts;
d) Nature conservation;
e) Conserving the historic environment;

Page 25



10

f) Traffic and access;
g) Air emissions including dust;
h) Odours;
i) Vermin and birds;
j) Noise, light and vibration;
k) Litter; and 
l) Potential land use conflict.

Development Plan Policies for Gloucestershire

4.13 Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning 
applications should be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan relevant to this 
planning application comprises the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (adopted 
Nov 2012); Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (adopted Oct 2004) and the Stroud 
District Local Plan (adopted November 2015).  

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy 2012 (Adopted November 2012)

4.14 Gloucestershire’s Waste Core Strategy (WCS), adopted 21st November 2012 
provides the planning framework for waste management development in the county 
for the period 2012 - 2027.  The following policies from the WCS are considered to 
be most relevant to the proposal:

WCS1- Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach 
that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  It will always work proactively with applicants 
jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever 
possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the area.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in the WCS (and, where relevant, 
with policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of 
date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:

• Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole; or

• Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be 
restricted. 

WCS6 – Other Recovery

Page 26



11

In order to divert waste from landfill, in the period to 2027, the WPA will make
provision for the following residual waste recovery capacity: IN
TRODUCTION
'Non-strategic' residual waste recovery facilities (<50,000 tonnes/year) will be
permitted both within and outside Zone C where the facility forms part of an
integrated and adequate waste management system and would be subject to the
following criteria:

- The proposal is located on an industrial estate or permitted/allocated; and/or
- The proposal is located on previously developed land; and/or
- The proposal involves the development of an existing waste management

facility or mineral site; and
- The facility would meet the relevant policies and criteria of the development

plan.

WCS8 – Landfill

Proposals for new landfill developments or extensions to existing landfill sites
will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
1. The waste cannot be managed further up the waste hierarchy through
reuse, recycling and recovery; and
2. The proposed landfill would enable;
iv. engineering or other operations.
3. The proposed development would not compromise the permitted
restoration of mineral sites or existing landfill sites by the diversion of
significant amounts of material;
4. The site does not adversely effect the following designations – major
aquifers, source protection zones and European Sites; and
5. Any proposal for new or extended landfill will need to indicate that it is
for Gloucestershire’s waste needs unless it can be demonstrated,
through a supporting statement, to be the most sustainable option to
manage waste arisings from outside of the county at that facility.

WCS10 – Cumulative Impact

In determining proposals for waste related development for new or enhanced waste 
management facilities the Council will have regard to the cumulative effects of 
previous and existing waste management facilities on local communities alongside 
the potential benefits of co-locating complimentary facilities together. Planning 
permission will be granted where the proposal would not have an unacceptable 
cumulative impact.

In considering the issue of cumulative impact, particular regard will be given to the 
following:

1. Environmental quality;
2. Social cohesion and inclusion; and
3. Economic potential.

Page 27



12

Within these broad categories this will, subject to the scale and nature of the 
proposal, include an assessment of the following issues: noise, odour, traffic 
(including accessibility and sustainable transport considerations), dust, health, 
ecology and visual impacts.

WCS14 - Landscape

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
Proposals for waste development within or affecting the setting of the Cotswolds, 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that:

- There is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the market 
need; and
- The impact on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the relevant 
management plan (including the landscape setting and recreational opportunities) 
can be satisfactorily mitigated; and
- The proposal complies with other relevant development plan policies.

In the case of major development within the AONB, a proven public interest must be 
demonstrated. Planning permission will only be granted in exceptional 
circumstances following the most rigorous examination and subject to the criteria 
above.

The County Council will continue to work in partnership with the respective AONB 
Conservation Boards and/or Joint Advisory Committees to help deliver the vision 
and objectives of the AONB Management Plans and Waste Core Strategy (WCS).

WCS17 – Design

Subject to compliance with other relevant development plan policies, planning 
permission will be granted for waste related development that achieves a high 
standard of design that is clearly robust and articulated through a Design and 
Access Statement.

Particular issues to address will include:

 How the proposal reflects, responds and is appropriate to its local 
environment and surroundings within Gloucestershire;

 The durability, adaptability and sustainability of the proposal including the use 
of sustainable drainage to reduce the impact of surface water run-off;

 How the proposal makes the most efficient use of the site; and 
 The use of high quality architecture and landscaping.

Poor quality design which fails to reflect or contribute positively to the character and 
quality of the area in which the proposal is located will be rejected.

WCS19 – Sustainable Transport

Page 28



13

In the interests of sustainable development and minimising the impact of waste 
management on Gloucestershire's roads and the wider natural and historic 
environment, proposals for waste-related development that utilise alternative modes 
of transport such as rail and water will be positively supported. This is subject to 
compliance with other relevant development plan policies and the contribution to a 
sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire.

Any development exceeding the thresholds set out in the Department for Transport 
publication 'Guidance on Transport Assessment' must be supported by a Transport 
Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan. Consideration will also be had to the location of 
the proposed development in determining whether a TA is required.

Development that would have an adverse impact on the highway network which 
cannot be mitigated will not be permitted.

Where a Travel Plan is required the developer will be expected to enter into a 
Section 106 or unilateral legal agreement to secure the development of the travel 
plan and any contributions required to support its implementation. A contribution 
towards costs of monitoring the travel plan will also be required. 

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (Saved Policies)

4.15 The Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (WLP) was adopted in October 2004.  
However, following the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government’s 
Direction (dated 5 October 2007) the following WLP policies are ‘saved’ until 
replaced by Development Plan Documents contained in the Minerals and Waste 
Development Frameworks. The following ‘saved’ policies are considered compliant 
with the NPPF and relevant to the determination of this proposal:

Policy 33 – Water Resources - Pollution Control

Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there would be no 
unacceptable risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of water or 
groundwater resources.

Policy 37 – Proximity to Other Land Uses 

Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into account such 
matters as the effect on the environment, occupants’ and users’ amenity and health, 
the countryside, the traditional landscape character of gloucestershire, the local 
highway network, any hazardous installation or substance and any adverse 
cumulative effect in combination with other development in the area. Where 
appropriate, suitable ameliorative measures shall be incorporated in the proposals 
to mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas, vermin, 
leachate and flue emissions.

Policy 38 – Hours of Operation

The waste planning authority will where appropriate impose a condition restricting 
hours of operation on waste management facilities to protect amenity.

Page 29



14

Stroud District Local (SDC) Plan (adopted Nov 2015)

4.16 Stroud District Local Plan was adopted on 19th November 2015 and provides the 
local planning framework up until 2031.  The Local Plan replaces the 2005 version 
of the Stroud District Local Plan.    

Core Policy CP1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development

When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach 
that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. It will always work proactively with applicants 
jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever 
possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the area.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where 
relevant, with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where there are no policies 
relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at the time of making 
the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:

1. Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
the National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole; or

2. Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be 
restricted. 

Core Policy CP3 – Settlement Hierarchy

Proposals for new development should be located in accordance with the District's 
settlement hierarchy. This will ensure that development reduces the need to travel 
and promotes sustainable communities based on the services and facilities that are 
available in each settlement. The use of previously developed land and buildings will 
be encouraged.

Core Policy CP14 – High Quality Sustainable Development

High quality development, which protects, conserves and enhances the built and 
natural environment, will be supported. Development will be supported where it 
achieves the following: (Selected relevant parts)

1. Sustainable construction techniques, including facilities for the recycling of water 
and waste, measures to minimise energy use and maximise renewable energy 
production
2. No unacceptable levels of air, noise, water, light or soil pollution or exposure to 
unacceptable risk from existing or potential sources of pollution. Improvements to 
soil and water quality will be sought through the remediation of land contamination, 

Page 30



15

the provision of SuDS and the inclusion of measures to help waterbodies to meet 
good ecological status
3. Adequate water supply, foul drainage and sewage capacity to serve the 
development and satisfactory provision of other utilities, transport and community 
infrastructure
4. No increased risk of flooding on or off the site, and inclusion of measures to 
reduce the causes and impacts of flooding as a consequence of that development
5. An appropriate design and appearance, which is respectful of the surroundings, 
including the local topography, built environment and heritage
6. Re-use of previously developed land and/or the adaptation of existing buildings 
that make a positive contribution to the character of the site and surroundings, 
unless demonstrably unviable
7. No unacceptable adverse affect on the amenities of neighbouring occupants
9. Contribute to a sense of place both in the buildings and spaces themselves and in 
the way in which they integrate with their surroundings including appropriate 
landscaping, biodiversity enhancement, open space and amenity space
10. A design and layout that aims to assist crime prevention and community safety, 
without compromising other design principles
11. Efficiency in terms of land use, achieving higher development densities in 
locations that are more accessible by public transport and other non-car modes and 
where higher densities are compatible with the character of the area and the setting 
of the development
12. It is not prejudicial to the development of a larger area in a comprehensive 
manner
13. Safe, convenient and attractive accesses on foot and by cycle and suitable 
connections with existing footways, bridleway, cycleways, local facilities and public 
transport

Development proposals will be required to demonstrate how they have responded to 
the above criteria through the submission of Design and Access Statements and 
relevant technical reports. It is important that the applicant provides clear and 
informative plans, elevations and street scenes and, where required, Masterplans, 
Development Briefs, Concept Statements and Design Codes to show how these 
criteria have been taken into account where necessary.

Core Policy CP15 – A Quality Living and Working Countryside

In order to protect the separate identity of settlements and the quality of the 
countryside (including its built and natural heritage), proposals outside identified 
settlement development limits will not be permitted except where these principles 
are complied with:

6. It will involve essential community facilities.

Where development accords with any of the principles listed above, it will only be 
permitted in the countryside if:
i) it does not have an adverse impact on heritage assets and their setting;
ii) it does not lead to excessive encroachment or expansion of development away 

from the original buildings;

Page 31



16

iii) in the case of proposals to re-use an existing building or buildings, these are 
appropriately located and capable and worthy of conversion. Any such 
conversion will involve a building that positively contributes to an established local 
character and sense of place. In the case of replacement buildings they must 
bring about environmental improvement; or

vvi) in the case of new buildings for essential community facilities, they cannot be 
accommodated within the identified settlement development limits or through the 
re-use or replacement of an existing building.

Delivery Policy EI4 – Development on existing employment sites in the 
countryside

On existing employment sites in the countryside, the extension of buildings and the 
provision of new buildings, including infilling between existing buildings, will be 
acceptable provided that:

1. The proposal facilitates the retention or growth of local employment opportunity
2. The proposal would not cause an unacceptable visual impact on the local 
character in terms of its siting, scale, materials or site coverage
3. There are no suitable alternative buildings or sites that can be used adjacent to 
the site or locality
4. The proposal can avoid harm to local amenities and adjoining land uses
5. The proposal would not generate significant traffic movement and volume that 
would lead to unacceptable environmental impacts or detriment to road safety.

Proposals will be expected to include measures to secure environmental 
improvements such as landscaping, enhancing biodiversity and incorporating SuDS.

Delivery Policy ES1 – Sustainable Construction and Design

Sustainable design and construction will be integral to new development in Stroud 
District. All planning applications should include evidence that the matters below will 
be addressed:
2. Minimisation of waste and maximising the recycling of any waste generated 
during construction and in operation 3. Conserving water resources and minimising 
vulnerability to flooding
4. Efficiency in materials use, including the type, life cycle and source of materials to 
be used
5. Flexibility and adaptability, allowing future modification of use or layout, facilitating 
future refurbishment and retrofitting 
6. Consideration of climate change adaptation

All development will be built in accordance with the approved plans

Delivery Policy ES3 – Maintaining Quality of Life within our Environmental 
Limits

Permission will not be granted to any development which would be likely to lead to, 
or result in an unacceptable level of:

Page 32



17

1. Noise, general disturbance, smell, fumes, loss of daylight or sunlight, loss of 
privacy or an overbearing effect
2. Environmental pollution to water, land or air and an unacceptable risk to the 
quality and quantity of a water body or water bodies
3. Noise sensitive development in locations where it would be subject to 
unacceptable noise levels
4. Increased risk of flooding on or off the site, and no inclusion of measures to 
reduce the causes and impacts of flooding
5. A detrimental impact on highway safety

Delivery Policy ES5 - Air Quality

Development proposals which by virtue of their scale, nature or location are likely to 
exacerbate existing areas of poor air quality, will need to demonstrate that 
measures can be taken to effectively mitigate emission levels in order to protect 
public health and well being, environmental quality and amenity. Mitigation 
measures should demonstrate how they will make a positive contribution to the aims 
of any Air Quality Strategy for Stroud District and may include:

1. landscaping, bunding or separation to increase distance from highways and 
junctions
2. possible traffic management or highway improvements to be agreed with the local 
authority
3. abatement technology and incorporating site layout / separation and other 
conditions in site planning
4. traffic routing, site management, site layout and phasing 

Delivery Policy ES6 – Providing for biodiversity and geodiversity European 
Sites

Local Sites
Local sites, including Local Nature Reserves (LNR), Key Wildlife Sites (KWS) and 
Regionally Important Geological and Geomorphological Sites (RIGS) will be 
safeguarded from development, unless the benefits of the development outweigh 
the nature conservation or scientific interest of the site. Where development is 
considered necessary, adequate mitigation measures or, exceptionally, 
compensatory measures, will be required, with the aim of providing an overall 
improvement in local biodiversity and/or geodiversity. Opportunities will be sought to 
access and enhance the value of such sites for educational purposes, particularly in 
relation to promoting public awareness as well as appreciation of their historic and 
aesthetic value.

Protected Species
Development proposals that would adversely affect European Protected Species 
(EPS) or Nationally Protected Species will not be supported, unless appropriate 
safeguarding measures can be provided (which may include brownfield or 
previously developed land (PDL) that can support priority habitats and/or be of value 
to protected species).

Delivery Policy ES7 – Landscape Character

Page 33



18

Within the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), or on land that 
may affect its setting, priority will be given to the conservation and enhancement of 
the natural and scenic beauty of the landscape whilst taking account of the 
biodiversity interest and the historic and cultural heritage. Major development will 
not be permitted unless it is demonstrated to be in the national interest and that 
there is a lack of alternative sustainable development sites.

In all locations development proposals should conserve or enhance the special 
features and diversity of the different landscape character types found within the 
District. Priority will be given to the protection of the quality and diversity of the 
landscape character.

Development will only be permitted if all the following criteria are met:

1. The location, materials, scale and use are sympathetic and complement the 
landscape character; and
2. Natural features including trees, hedgerows and water features that contribute to 
the landscape character and setting of the development should be both retained and 
managed appropriately in the future.

4.17 There is no adopted or emerging Neighbourhood Plan for the area in which the 
application site is located.

Environment Strategy 2007-2027 

4.18 SDC adopted a 20 year strategy with the aim ‘to help us live within environmental 
limits’ in February 2007.  The Environment Strategy is not part of the Development 
Plan for Gloucestershire nor significantly material to the determination of planning 
applications by the County Council as WPA.  The Environment Strategy is a set of 
community aspirations, priority actions and performance targets for SDC.  

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The application was publicised by a public notice placed in the Stroud News and 
Journal on 17th December 2020 and by the posting of five site notices in the vicinity 
of the application site on 17th December 2020.  Comments on the application 
proposals were requested by 15th January 2021.  

5.2 On the 14th December 2020 eleven letters requesting comments by 15th January 
2021 were sent to local residents.

5.3 A total of 34 representations have been received at the time of writing this report as 
a result of this publicity, all of which object to the proposal.

Summary of issues raised in objections:

 Impact on the protected landscape caused by a pet cemetery
 Appropriateness of the location or alternatives
 No intensification should be permitted

Page 34



19

 Negative impact on local highway network
 Visual impact
 Potential to pollute aquifer
 Impact upon walkers
 Negative impact upon air quality
 Precedent setting for further development
 Compliance with the Development Plan

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

Stroud District Council’s initial response

6.1 Comment Date: Thu 04 Feb 2021 
“An overall response from Stroud DC will be forthcoming but, given the recent 
additional comments by Atkins on the application, I thought it would be helpful if I 
proffered the environmental protection view upfront as early as possible to address 
the recent issues raised. 

With respect to the incinerators present at the site, these are regulated by means of 
an Environmental Permit issued by Stroud District Council. This Permit was 
originally issued on 17th May 2019. 

Following a complaint from a member of the public in respect of black smoke 
emanating from a flue at the site on 14th June 2019, the Permit was formally Varied 
on 26th June 2019 to insert an additional condition specifically in respect of 
dark/black smoke emissions. 

A copy of the current Permit is attached for information.

In the 18 months since the Variation, Stroud District Council had received no 
complaints or enquiries about the use of the incinerators until 12th January 2021, 
when a local resident provided us with photographs of black smoke emanating from 
the flue as part of a response to the current planning application. 

Consequently, the evidenced emissions are now being investigated by officers of 
the Environmental Protection team at Stroud District Council and appropriate 
enforcement action will be undertaken utilising the Permitting regime to control 
future emissions from the plant. 

A wide range of powers are available to deal with serious Permit non-compliances 
including Enforcement Notices, prosecutions, Suspension Notices, Revocation 
Notices, etc. Consequently, we are satisfied that the Environmental Permit will 
suffice to adequately control emissions from the incinerators”.

Comment Date: Mon 01 Feb 2021 
Comments received 29/01/2021.

“Thank you for your recent consultation on the above planning application. As 
agreed, please find comments on behalf of Stroud District Council.

Page 35



20

The planning application details the proposal to change the use of agricultural land 
and buildings to a pet cemetery and associated incinerator and waste management 
facilities. Stroud District Council does not object to the proposal subject to the 
following considerations.

The relevant planning policies contained in the Stroud District Local Plan include the 
following;

SO2 Local Economy and Jobs
SO4 Transport and Travel
CP11 New Employment Development
CP14 High Quality Sustainable Development
EI4 Development on Existing Employment Sites in the Countryside
EI5 Farm Enterprises and Diversification
ES6 Providing for Biodiversity and Geodiversity
ES7 Landscape Character
ES8 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland

The Stroud Local Plan is supportive of the expansion of existing employment sites 
through the extension and/or provision of new buildings.

The Stroud District Local Plan is also supportive of development that forms part of a 
farm diversification scheme. Proposals should demonstrate that the viability of 
farming enterprise is not prejudiced by supporting, rather than replacing farming 
activities on the rest of the farm. Development should promote the use of farming 
practices that have a positive impact on environment.

The above is subject to the certain criteria, notably the impact upon landscape and 
the safety and amenity of the public highway.

Landscape - The site is located within the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB) and is in open countryside. The development has the potential to 
have a detrimental impact upon the setting and character of the Cotswold AONB. 
Stroud District Council note that the proposed development would utilise existing 
agricultural buildings associated with the site and other buildings, access and car 
parking associated with incinerator activities associated with the site. It is 
acknowledged that this would help to reduce this impact and limit the impact of 
additional buildings on the site. However, the use of the open field as a pet 
cemetery will change the landscape somewhat over a period of time.

It is considered that there is an opportunity to provide landscape and biodiversity 
improvements through the introduction of sympathetic landscape measures (tree 
planting, hedgerow planting and landscape/ecological management) on the site and 
particularly in the area to be used as the cemetery.

Stroud District Council concurs with the advice provided by the Gloucestershire 
County Council Principle Ecologist and supports the imposition of conditions to 
secure specific landscape/ecology mitigation measures and protection of 

Page 36



21

hedgerows; and, the control of excavation and external lighting as set out in that 
advice.

Stroud District Council notes that Natural England raise no objection to the 
development, and concurs with the advice provided in that response.

Highway Safety and Amenity - Stroud District Council note that the applicant has 
submitted a Transport Statement in support of the application. It is for the Highway 
Authority to consider the impact of the development in terms of highway safety and 
amenity.

The immediate locality is characterised by single track country lane. This is the only 
access to the site and the routes available to more major transport links (A419) are 
limited and also narrow in nature. The access to the site is also a Public Right of 
Way which is very likely to be well used.

It is acknowledged that there is some commercial activity associated with the 
existing use of the site associated with the incineration of small animals and that this 
will generate a level of direct vehicular movements. However, there is the potential 
for an increase in vehicular movements associated with the intensification of uses at 
the site including visits by members of the public using proposed pet cemetery 
facilities. The assessment of this application should carefully consider the impact of 
any increased vehicular movements over and above the use of the local highway 
network and in particular consider the potential conflict to recreational users.

Environmental Issues - The incinerators present at the site are regulated under an 
Environmental Permit issued by Stroud District Council. The Environmental 
Protection Manager has advised that the Environmental Permit is sufficient to 
control emissions from the incinerators.

Notwithstanding the above, the Senior Contaminated Land Officer advises that the 
site is located on a principal aquifer and it is understood that there are private water 
supplies within 500 metres of the site. Accordingly, Stroud District Council would 
suggest that a Ground Water Risk Assessment is provided by the applicant in order 
to allow the consideration of the impact of the development on the quality of ground 
waters. Consultation in this regard should be carried out with the Environment 
Agency”.

County Councillor

6.2 Minchinhampton Division - Comments received 11.01.2021

Comment (objection)

“Thank you for the opportunity to review this application, for a site located (in part) 
within my electoral division as County Councillor for Minchinhampton. I am unable to 
support it. I have concerns about the suitability of this site as a pet cemetery (and 
indeed about any intensification of the site's usage for waste), about the Highways 
implications of the proposed development, and about its landscape impact given the 
site's location. My concerns are both in relation to the information that has been 

Page 37



22

supplied by the applicant, and information that is currently outstanding. My specific 
comments are as follows:

Parking - Firstly, I am concerned that the new use will lead to parked cars causing 
an obstruction on what is a very narrow rural access road. While the applicant 
assures us that new traffic will be very limited (more below) and accommodated 
within the site, there is a discrepancy in the detail given regarding parking between 
the Planning Statement, which says "Four parking spaces will be provided within the 
existing layby to accommodate visitors to the Cemetery" and the Apex Transport 
Planning report which says "A dedicated car park for six vehicles would be provided 
for visitors to the pet cemetery. This allows vehicles to park off the unadopted lane, 
minimising conflicts between parked vehicles and pedestrians" - the applicant needs 
to clarify the parking arrangements. Furthermore, while we have been given daily 
visit numbers for comparison from three of the applicant's other pet cemetery sites 
across the country, I am concerned that we are not told why these are considered 
good comparators for what is proposed at Limekiln Farm (and so give a good idea 
of parking needs) - the named sites are not the nearest of the company's other 
cemeteries, by any means, and we are given no idea of the relative size of the plots 
and operations in question. I cannot gain any comfort, therefore, from the applicant's 
assurances around parking needs for the site.

Increased traffic and road safety - perhaps more importantly, the site's primary 
access from the nearest settlement is via a narrow, rural lane, wholly unsuited to 
regular industrial traffic. As above, the level of additional traffic is therefore a key 
consideration, and without more information about the comparator cemetery sites 
provided by the applicant (i.e. whether they are valid comparables), it is not possible 
to properly understand the highways impact. If traffic flows might well be materially 
higher than the applicant has suggested (given as "on a typical day there would be 
one vehicle arrival associated with burials and visitors ") then I am very concerned 
about the width of the lane and its lack of passing places. Furthermore, if the 
parking were not properly addressed as above, I am also concerned about the 
safety of pedestrian access to the site from the lane, if the highway may be 
obstructed by inappropriately parked cars.

Watercourses and ecological impacts - thirdly, I note that a previous application was 
made in relation to a pet cemetery on this site back in 2019 (to Stroud District 
Council), and at that time a number of questions were raised on behalf of 
Environmental Health in relation to the siting of the cemetery, in particular 
requesting demonstration from the applicant that the proposed burial ground would 
be:

at least 250 metres away from any well, borehole or spring supplying drinking water 
or water for use at farm dairies;
at least 30 metres from any other spring or watercourse;
at least 10 metres from any field drain; 
and more than 200 metres away from any Site of Special Scientific Interest.

Of these, other than the latter (which is covered in the report from the Principal 
Ecologist), I do not see this information in the documents supplied by this applicant. 
I note that the applicant maintains that "the proposed waste material placed into the 

Page 38



23

ground in relation to the pet cemetery will be not be hazardous or pose a risk of 
contamination to ground water of water run off" but I remain concerned about the 
impact of liquid runoff from the site on local watercourses, particular those that run 
down into "The Heavens", a site widely used for recreational purposes by local 
families. I am also concerned about any increase in emissions relating to the 
cremation activity - again, this comes back to the validity of the comparators for the 
site, and how many burials will in fact take place in a week.

I note the various ecological recommendations in the Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal and the GCC Ecology report, and ask that - if the application is approved - 
these are made conditions of the development.

Visual impacts in the AONB - finally, noting that the site is in the Cotswold AONB, 
and as such is governed by Paragraph 172 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), February 2019 as well as Delivery Policy ES7 - Landscape 
Character (inter alia) of the Stroud District Local Plan (as adopted 2015) - I note that 
while the applicant's own Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal, as prepared by 
WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited, concludes that the site can be 
developed "without unacceptable adverse impact to the surrounding landscape 
character and visual amenity", even it does acknowledge that there will be impacts. 
For a site that is both on top of a ridgeline, thus highly visible, and within the AONB, 
I do not believe we should be permitting industrial development that has any 
landscape impact at all, and certainly not unless the circumstances are exceptional, 
which in this case they are not.”

Parish Council (Crematorium and Cemetery)

6.3  Thrupp & Brimscombe Parish Council - Comments received 10.01.2021

“The Parish Council object to a change of use from agricultural to a pet cemetery.

Burials should be no less than 1m deep, and on the Cotswold Plateau the soil is 
thin, and soon into the bedrock. The site forms part of the catchment to surface 
springs (just a few hundred metres from proposed site) feeding the stream into the 
Heavens and on to the River Frome.

The Parish Council would like to see an Environmental Impact Assessment and 
more importantly also a Hydrological Survey for the site.

Should such a survey be undertaken and demonstrate viability for a cemetery, the 
Parish Council would still not be in favour of a change of use.

Whilst we appreciate the business does currently undertake animal cremations, we 
do not feel burial on the site is an appropriate change within the AONB which is a 
designation to protect an area of natural beauty.”

Parish Council (Storage and Reception Building)

6.4 Bisley with Lypiatt Parish Council - Comments received 07/01/2021

Page 39



24

Recommend: Object.

“No details at all of this on either SDC or GCC website, but it apparently already 
functions as an animal crematorium without complaint. Brimscombe and Thrupp PC 
has also been consulted, as the boundary goes through the middle of Limekiln 
Farm.”

Environment Agency (EA)

6.5 The Environment Agency (EA) were not initially consulted directly on this matter 
because the activity is not regulated by the EA under the Environmental Permitting 
Regulations and the Local Authority instead are the Regulatory Authority. Due to 
comments received from contributors, the Environment Agency have been 
consulted in relation to the potential for impact to the underlying aquifer by the 
proposed use of the field for the burial of cremated pet remains.

Response dated 25th June 2021

“Thank you for consulting us on the above application which was received on 21 
June 2021. We have the following comments for your consideration at this time:

Thank you for submitting planning application Ref 20/0056/STMAJW for our review.  
Please note our comments relate solely to the protection of ‘Controlled Waters’. 
Matters relating to Human Health should be directed to the relevant department of 
the local council.

Site Setting
Reference to the 1:50,000 scale geological map indicates that the site is located on 
Limestone bedrock of the Great Oolite Group, which is designated a Principal 
Aquifer by the Environment Agency. Superficial deposits are not indicated to be 
present. The site does not lie within a Source Protection Zone and there are no 
licensed abstractions within 1km.

The application site comprises three agricultural style buildings, associated yards 
and an agricultural field.  The buildings are used as part of a pet cremation business 
and the activities associated with it, of which one building houses 2 incinerators for 
animal carcasses.  

Environmental Permitting Regulations (EPR)
We understand the planning application site is under control of an Environment 
Agency (EA) Permit (as required by the Environmental Permitting Regulations – 
EPR), owing to its use as a waste transfer station, in which clinical waste is stored 
temporarily on site and then transferred for disposal.  Under this planning 
application it is proposed these activities are continued and the agricultural field is 
subject to a change of use to a pet cemetery.

 
Pet cemetery – protection of groundwater
We have reviewed the Planning Supporting Statement submitted and understand 
that only cremated animal remains, i.e. ashes, will be buried/scattered on site, which 
in terms of groundwater vulnerability, poses a lower pollution risk than animal burial.

Page 40



25

We wish to make the applicant aware of the Regulatory Position Statement (RPS) 
regarding the burial of pet ashes (to be accessed via the link below);  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-
regulatory-position-statement/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-regulatory-
position-statement

If the criteria stipulated within the RPS cannot be met the applicant must apply to 
the Environment Agency for a bespoke permit to bury or spread ash.  The applicant 
is advised to contact us if they need further advice regarding this.

Conclusion
In summary we are satisfied that risks to the underlying principal aquifer from the 
activities proposed can be managed effectively via the pollution prevention control 
measures imposed by the current EA waste Permit and further compliance with the 
RPS referenced or any subsequent Permit required.

Advice to the Applicant
In addition to the above RPS and weblinks, we would like to refer the applicant to 
our groundwater position statements in ‘The Environment Agency’s approach to 
groundwater protection’, available from the gov.uk. website here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-position-
statements This publication sets out our position for a wide range of activities and 
developments, including:

• Waste management
• Discharge of liquid effluents
• Land contamination
• Cemetery developments
• Drainage

 

I trust the above will assist in your determination of the application. Please do not 
hesitate to contact me if you have any queries. A copy of the subsequent decision 
notice would be appreciated.” 

Public Health - Gloucestershire County Council

6.6 No comments received to date.  

Natural England (NE)

6.7 NO OBJECTION

“Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not have significant adverse impacts on protected landscapes and 
designated sites and has no objection”.

Cotswold Conservation Board (CCB) 

Page 41



26

6.8 No comments received to date.

Highway Authority

6.9 Comments received 05/01/2021.

“Gloucestershire County Council, the Highway Authority acting in its role as 
Statutory Consultee has undertaken a full assessment of this planning application. 
Based on the appraisal of the development proposals the Highways Development 
Management Manager on behalf of the County Council, under Article 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)(England) 
Order, 2015 has no objection.

The Highway Authority has undertaken a robust assessment of the planning 
application. Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway 
Authority concludes that there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway 
Safety or a severe impact on congestion. There are no justifiable grounds on which
an objection could be maintained.

The Highway Authority therefore submits a response of no objection”.

GCC Landscape & Visual Architect Consultant

6.10 Comments received 29/12/2020.

“Thank you for your email and letter regarding the above application. I have read the 
documents, reviewed the submitted plans and visited the area of the site. I have the 
following comments for your consideration:

1) Generally I am in agreement with the LVIA conclusions (WYG document 
A117567 LVApp v2) that both landscape and visual impacts will be negligible to 
minor adverse. The application is, in respect of the buildings housing the 
incinerators, retrospective. The use of the field as a pet cemetery, parking and new 
access points are the main new elements.

2) There are some minor discrepancies between the drawings contained within the 
LVIA (primarily LA06) and the Richard Andrews proposed site plan R431-02; this 
primarily in respect of where new access points are shown. I would recommend that 
these are reviewed and resolved  by the applicant.

3) I am in agreement with the conditions proposed by the County Ecologist. If you 
are minded to recommend approval of the application I would ask that his proposed 
Condition 1 is strengthened to specifically require the replacement of any planting 
that dies or fails to thrive.

4) I would recommend a condition to require details of the parking area, new gates 
and walls and proposed headstones. The latter should be flat, of a regular design 
and size and in rows as set out in paragraphs 3.1.2 to 3.1.5 of the LVIA. I do not 
consider the suggestion in the support statement that "Over time the field 
appearance would alter slightly due to its use as a cemetery including the 

Page 42



27

installation of plaques/headstones and other memorabilia;" would be acceptable in 
visual terms unless controlled by condition in line with the LVIA.

I hope these comments are of assistance to you but do please contact me if you 
wish to discuss further.

Minerals and Waste Policy

6.11 Comments received 11/01/2021.

“All of the details set out within this section are made by officers on behalf of 
Gloucestershire County Council in its capacity as the Mineral and Waste Planning 
Authority (MWPA): - 

The case officer is strongly encouraged to review the detailed policy comments that 
were provided at the associated pre-application stage when considering this 
response. Overall, officers broadly welcome the attempts made by the applicant to 
consider and resolve the planning issues / challenges previously identified.

Officers understand that the proposal site currently benefits from planning 
permission for the stationing of an incinerator for the disposal of small animals. The 
planning permission local reference is S.4866/M. A total of two incinerator units are 
installed on-site. The two incinerator units have been used for the disposal of animal 
carcasses. An office building on-site is also present, which is used for ancillary 
purposes linked to the cremation business.
Proposed Development
The applicant's proposal is to retain two incinerators on-site for use to dispose of 
animal remains. The whole site is to be defined as a Waste Transfer Station (WTS) 
for the temporary storage of clinical waste. The proposal also seeks the retention of 
the office building and the change of use of a field to become a pet cemetery able to 
receive burials. It is understood that burials will be for cremated animal remains 
rather than to receive non-cremated animal carcasses. In respect of this matter, 
officers consider cremated animal remains to generally fall into the inert material 
category. However, it is not clear from the application whether the housing of 
cremated animal remains will also be buried? This could have a bearing on any 
review of the assessments made of potential below-ground pollution impacts. 

Key policy matters that require attention
In the supporting information the applicant has concluded that they do not believe 
the proposal will affect a major aquifer, Source Protection Zones (SPZs) or 
European (designated) Sites. However, geological data indicates that the proposal 
site does overlie a principal aquifer. In light of the burial element of the proposal, it is 
strongly encouraged that the case officer seeks clarification from the applicant that 
their headline conclusion has recognised this fact and taken it into account. 
Discussion with the Environment Agency on this matter should be undertaken and 
reported upon prior to arriving at a determination. As mentioned earlier the full 
nature of all buried material (including any casing or housing) needs to be clarified 
as well. 

Page 43



28

In respect of all other related planning issues / challenges, officers consider that 
there is sufficient information provided in order for the case officers to arrive at an 
informed determination. However, it may still be necessary to acquire input from 
other technical advisors / consultees”.

County Air Quality Advisor

6.12 “Introduction
Atkins, as appointed Air Quality Consultant to Gloucestershire County Council, 
provided initial comments on planning application 20/0056/STMAJW on 7th January 
2021.

The planning application received from Time Right Limited (‘the Applicant’), is for 
the “Proposed use of field as pet cemetery. Use of site as waste transfer station for 
the temporary storage of clinical waste; retention of 2no.cremators for clinical waste 
burning (abp cat 1 material domestic pets) and extended office building, together
with associated works”.

GCC have subsequently provided additional information for consideration. We also 
note a considerable number of objections have been registered on the Planning 
Portal since our original comments were submitted. These include photographic 
evidence of black smoke emissions from incinerator stacks.

This supplementary note provides further comment regarding air quality impacts 
associated with the application.

Air Quality Comment
There are several elements to the application. The air quality impacts associated 
with each are addressed in turn below.

Traffic generation
The Transport Statement1 indicates at paragraph 2.5.6, that excluding staff 
movements, the site currently generates between eight to twelve vehicle 
movements per day, and one panel van per week in relation to the Waste Transfer 
Station. The Planning Statement2 indicates that the site employs six full time staff. 
Combining these data, the total baseline traffic flows associated with existing 
operations is estimated to be a maximum of 24 vehicle movements per day.

The application to develop a field as a pet cemetery is the only element of the 
application that will generate additional traffic above those vehicle movements 
associated with existing operations. The Transport Statement indicates at paragraph 
3.2.2 that the proposed cemetery operations may generate an additional one or two
vehicles per day, on average, and up to four or five vehicles on a busy day. While 
no count data is presented on total baseline traffic flows on local roads, the 
proposals are not forecast to generate a volume of traffic such that would require 
further assessment. The associated vehicle emissions do not raise any concerns for 
local air quality.

Retention of extended office building

Page 44



29

The planning statement submitted with the application indicates that the office 
building is used for “ancillary purposes linked to the cremation use”. No indication is 
provided on heating of the office though it may be expected a standard domestic 
boiler provides heating and hot water. This element of the application raises no
air quality concerns.

Use of the site as a Waste Transfer Station for the temporary storage of clinical 
waste
The Waste Transfer Station (WTS) operations relate to the temporary storage of 
clinical waste, which is to be disposed of offsite, and are regulated by the 
Environment Agency, under an S1 exemption permit4, registration number 
WEX25595435.

With reference to the National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 183 [see 
below], the operation of the WTS, and thus any potential odour emissions, are 
subject to regulation by the Environment Agency and are not a material planning 
issue.

There are no air quality implications for planning associated with the clinical waste 
transfer operations.

Proposed use of field as a pet cemetery
There are no direct air quality implications associated with the use of the field for 
burial of inert, cremated animal remains. The operation of a pet cemetery may 
attract additional traffic to the area associated with ceremonies for the interment of 
ashes and subsequent tending of graves. Associated air quality effects due to
additional vehicle emissions have been addressed above.

Retention of two cremators for clinical waste burning.
We understand that operation of a single cremator received planning consent from 
Stroud District Council in 1992, reference S.4866/M, the conditions of which were 
varied in 1996, planning ref 96/2407. The cremator units currently operating on site 
are more modern, replacement units.

Stroud District Council have confirmed in their consultation response that “The 
incinerators present at the site are regulated under an Environmental Permit issued 
by Stroud District Council. The Environmental Protection Manager has advised that 
the Environmental Permit is sufficient to control emissions from the incinerators.”
The Environmental Permit (ref LAPPC1149) is issued by Stroud District Council 
under the Local Authority Pollution Prevention and Control (LAPPC) Regulations.

The current application (20/0056/STMAJW) has been made to Gloucestershire 
County Council as the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority. The proposed land 
use insofar as it relates to the barn is already established under the extant 1992 
consent. The consideration for the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority is 
whether the scale of use now proposed, including the receipt of animal carcases 
from external sources for incineration on the site, is acceptable.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states at paragraph 170:

Page 45



30

Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and 
local environment by: … (e) preventing new and existing development from 
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. 
Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental 
conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information 
such as river basin management plans;

It continues at paragraph 183 to state:
The focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether proposed 
development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or 
emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). Planning 
decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. Equally, where 
a planning decision has been made on a particular development, the planning 
issues should not be revisited through the permitting regimes operated by pollution 
control authorities.

From a regulatory perspective, control of emissions from the cremation activities 
falls to Stroud District Council as a permitted activity under the LAPPC Regulations. 
It is a matter for the regulatory authority to ensure that those permitted activities are 
operating in accordance with the permit, and with any conditions specified therein.

Low capacity cremator units, when operating effectively and in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s instructions and servicing schedule, should not emit any black 
smoke, nor emit flames from the chimney stack. Acknowledging the numerous 
objections submitted in response to this application, and photographic evidence
submitted by Mr Deacon showing a visible plume, it appears that the cremators are 
not always operating correctly. The Applicant’s agent has submitted a response to 
these photographs, offering explanation for recent exceptional events and proposing 
additional training for operatives. It is recommended that the Operator maintains a 
log of on-site activities, to be made available to the regulatory authority upon 
request. It is also recommended that the Regulator make appropriate inspections, 
such that they are satisfied that appropriate remedial actions are implemented.

Further guidance in relation to operation of animal cremators, that may be useful to 
the Applicant, Operator or Regulator may be found in DEFRA guidance on 
requirements for animal incineration, including site approval from the Animal and 
Plant Health Agency (APHA), or Environment Agency as may be required, 
determined by the nature, volume or mix of materials being incinerated. In addition, 
the Environment Agency has published guidance for developments requiring 
planning permission and environmental permits.

Summary and conclusions
There are no air quality concerns in relation to the proposed retention of the 
extended office building, continued Waste Transfer Station operations or use of the 
field as a pet cemetery. 

As the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, GCC must be satisfied that 
continued cremation of animal carcases, and the scale of proposed operations, is an 
acceptable use of land at the application site, assuming that the LAPPC permitting 

Page 46



31

regime is effective in regulating the operations and addressing any non-compliant 
performance, such that there will be no adverse impacts to health or the 
environment due to these operations.

Control of emissions from the cremator units is not a matter for the Minerals and 
Waste Planning Authority (GCC) but is the concern of the regulatory authority 
(Stroud District Council). The Regulator must be satisfied that the Operator has all 
the necessary approvals and permits, and that they can demonstrate operations are
undertaken in accordance within the provisions of these documents, and any 
conditions specified therein. Operations may be subject to inspection by the 
Regulator, and enforcement notices issued if operations are found to be in 
contravention of permits and approvals. The Regulator should be satisfied that the 
correct nature of waste is incinerated, in accordance with planning and / or 
permitting conditions.

It is recommended that should GCC be minded to grant planning consent, the 
following condition be applied:

Condition: The permission is made for the disposal of animal carcases by 
incineration. No waste other than animal remains shall be incinerated or disposed of 
on the application site.

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and in accordance with interests 
that the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and promote”.

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The main considerations in the determination of this proposal to use an updated 
cremator for the disposal by incineration of animal carcasses in connection with the 
applicants’ operation and the provision of a pet cemetery on adjoining land, are the 
extent to which the proposal complies with national and local planning policies along 
with issues raised by objectors.  

7.2 As a waste disposal activity, the policies of the WCS and saved policies of the WLP 
are most relevant to the determination of this planning proposal.  Stroud District 
Local Plan also contains relevant policies which relate to the rural economy and the 
environment.  The proposal involves a small scale waste stream and specialised 
waste disposal activity for which there are no specific policies in the WCS.  Policy 
WCS1 advises that, where there are no policies or they are out of date, then the 
Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise, 
taking account of whether any adverse impacts of granting would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the NPPF.  The NPPW 
being specifically concerned with waste development is also considered to be a 
material consideration for this proposal.  

7.3 The NPPW sets out 12 locational factors in testing the suitability of waste sites in 
determining planning applications.  Each will be discussed in turn below in order to 
consider all the material issues which were raised during the consultation process of 
this planning application.

Page 47



32

Criterion 1: Protection of water quality and resources and flood risk management
7.4 The application site is not located within an area of high flood risk but is within an 

area protected as being a principal aquifer.  The application as submitted does not 
appear to affect groundwater quality or resources.  The floor of the building in which 
the incinerator is located has an impervious concrete floor. The proposal is that ash 
from the process of incineration would be collected and removed from the 
applicants’ site to be disposed of at an engineered landfill facility or according to the 
wishes of the pet owners, buried in the adjoining pet cemetery.  The permission will 
be subject to a standard pollution prevention condition for a bunded compound 
around the proposed fuel storage tank.  ’   

7.5 It has been confirmed by the statutory consultees that the incineration of all 
carcasses will denature all potentially toxic medicines and compounds within the 
animal remains. The ash generated from the incineration will comprise typically 3-
5% of the mass of the original animal. The EA are satisfied that the proposal to bury 
cremated animal ashes in the adjoin field poses a low risk to the underlying aquifer. 
Additionally, pollution control regimes will control pollution risks from the proposal. 
Medical materials used to treat the animal prior to death will not be incinerated. 
These clinical materials will instead be stored in line with pollution and diseases 
prevention and control methods in fit for purpose facilities on site prior to being 
transported to an authorised landfill or disposal facility off site. For clarification, no 
clinical waste will either be incinerated or disposed of to land on site. All clinical 
waste will be disposed of properly at an approved off site facility. 

Criterion 2 Land stability 
7.6 The proposal would have no adverse impact on the stability of land.  Only relatively 

small quantities of ash from the combustion process would need to be landfilled in 
the proposed cemetery.  

Criterion 3 Landscape and visual impacts
7.7 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF recognises the need to contribute to and enhance the 

natural and local environment.  Paragraph 172 makes reference to the protection 
and enhancement of valued landscapes and that great weight should be given to 
conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs.

7.8 Core Policy WCS14 (Landscape) of the adopted Gloucestershire WCS is of 
particular relevance as it relates to waste proposals within or affecting the setting of 
an AONB.  Delivery Policy ES7 (Landscape Character) of the Stroud District Local 
Plan requires that development proposals are appropriate and integrate with the 
character of the landscape and conserve the important landscape characteristics.  

7.9 The proposed waste disposal operation would take place within part of an existing 
building behind closed doors.  There are no proposed changes to the existing 
buildings.  The delivery of animals for disposal would be by a white panel van which 
would not be out of place in a rural area.  

7.10 Natural England has no objection to the proposal and does not consider there would 
be a significant impact on the landscape of the Cotswolds AONB. Memorials for 
animals will be restricted by condition to plain stone markers, laid horizontally to the 

Page 48



33

ground. No further memorials will be permitted, to prevent such artefacts which can 
cause noise or visual intrusion to the sensitive AONB location.     

7.11 As a small scale waste disposal activity that can be carried out within the confines of 
an existing building, there is not considered to be a negative visual impact on the 
AONB or the rural landscape and the proposals are considered to comply with WCS 
Policy 14 and Core Policy ES7 of Stroud District Local Plan.

7.12 In addition to the visual impact test of Policy WCS14 of the WCS the policy also 
requires the applicant to demonstrate that there is a lack of non AONB sites to serve 
market need.  While the WCS has not identified a specific need for this type of 
development it should not be inferred that there is not a market need for such a 
facility as some objectors have stated.  There are other animal/pet crematoria 
facilities available in Gloucestershire, but these are widely spaced.  In this case, the 
service would be associated with the applicants’ established cremation business 
and serve a localised customer base within a close radius of the application site.  
The aim is to provide a complete service for pet owners of care both during and 
after cremation.  The proposal includes the dropping off of animal carcasses by 
owners for disposal and the return of ashes to owners.  The WPA is satisfied that 
there is a need for such a small scale facility, given its continued operation for a 
period in excess of 20 years and the siting of the facility in this location would not 
conflict with Policy WCS14 and more localised facilities would avoid the need to 
transport this type of waste over greater distances to reach sites beyond the AONB.  

Criterion 4 Nature conservation
7.13 There is one nationally designated SSSI within 2 km of the application: The 

Rodborough Common SSSI, located 1.7km to the south west. The nearest part of 
any Locally designated Nature Reserve is the Bisley Road Cemetery, which is over 
900 metres to the north west.  Dry Hill Wood is ancient woodland, located 600 
metres to the south west of the site. While objectors have expressed concerns 
about adverse impacts of air quality on designated sites, Natural England (NE) is 
satisfied that the proposal would not adversely affect them.  

7.14 The County Ecological Advisor (CEA) has considered the impact on the proposal on 
biodiversity, particularly bats and other protected species.  They consider that the 
building is unlikely to support protected species, however recommends a 
precautionary advice note should be added to any planning permission to protect 
bats and breeding birds.  In the event that external lighting of the building is to be 
changed the CEA has advised that the imposition of a planning condition which 
requires the submission of a lighting scheme for approval would safeguard amenity 
and ensure that bats are not discouraged at this location.  

7.15 The proposals are considered to comply with Paragraph 175 of the NPPF and 
Policy ES6 of the Stroud District Local Plan which seek to protect wider biodiversity.

Criterion 5 Conserving the historic environment
7.16 There is one Grade 1 Listed Building to the south east of the site, in excess of 450 

metres from the application site.  SDC has not raised any concerns regarding the 
negative impact of the proposals on the historic environment and impacts on air 
quality are addressed below.  

Page 49



34

Criterion 6 Traffic and access
7.17 A footpath runs east west from the application site, but the route excludes the 

vehicular access to Limekiln Farm.  This existing vehicular access would be used for 
the delivery of animal carcasses to the site.  

7.18 The carcasses would be collected using a plain white panel van.  This vehicle is 
already in operation from Limekiln Farm and would be no difference in size or 
appearance to any delivery vehicle expected to be seen in a rural area and would 
therefore not create any change in the appearance of the site as a result of this 
waste collection. Owners attending the site to bring their animals for cremation will 
naturally use their own vehicles on the public highway. 

7.19 The applicant has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority (HA)  
that there is sufficient space on the site to be able to manoeuvre vehicles and exit 
the farmyard in forward gear.  A planning condition to secure the visibility splay of 
the farm access onto the public highway is recommended to avoid any potential 
conflict with other highway users.

7.20 The applicant anticipates that no more than an additional 4 vehicular movements 
per day would be generated by visitors, with a maximum of 10 journeys when a 
burial is taking place. Burials are anticipated to occur approximately twice per 
calendar month. When combined with daily staff vehicular movements, the total 
baseline traffic flows associated with the existing operations are estimated to be a 
maximum of 24 movements per day.

7.21 The HA is satisfied with the existing access arrangements at Limekiln Farm and 
does not consider that there would an unacceptable impact on highway safety from 
this proposed use.  A condition to remove Permitted Development Rights for any 
other activities to be carried out within the application site would require the 
applicants to apply for planning permission before they could operate any additional 
equipment or expand the scope of the activity.  Subject to the imposition of the 
planning conditions to maintain the visibility of the access onto the public highway 
network and removal of permitted development rights, the proposal is considered to 
be acceptable in terms of highway safety and compliant with Paragraph 108 of the 
NPPF which states that “Development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe”.  

Criterion 7 Air emissions including dust
7.22 A significant number of local residents objected to the proposal on the grounds of 

the potential negative impact of air quality on human health, biodiversity and 
heritage assets such as listed buildings in the area.  There is concern that there 
could be air pollution if the incinerator is not correctly operated or serviced.

7.23 The proposed model of incinerator is certified to a British Standard BS3316 1987 to 
ensure that the incinerator emissions are below EC limits.  

Page 50



35

7.24 In addition to the SDC EHO expertise in the assessment of air quality emissions 
from incineration, the WPA requested advice from its Air Quality Advisor (AQA) to 
review these proposals.  

7.25 The AQA considers that “there are no air quality concerns in relation to the 
proposed retention of the extended office building, continued Waste Transfer Station 
operations or use of the field as a pet cemetery. As the Minerals and Waste 
Planning Authority, GCC must be satisfied that continued cremation of animal 
carcases, and the scale of proposed operations, is an acceptable use of land at the 
application site, assuming that the LAPPC permitting regime is effective in 
regulating the operations and addressing any non-compliant performance, such that 
there will be no adverse impacts to health or the environment due to these 
operations. The control of emissions from the cremator units is not a matter for the 
Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (GCC) but is the concern of the regulatory 
authority (Stroud District Council). The Regulator must be satisfied that the Operator 
has all the necessary approvals and permits, and that they can demonstrate 
operations are undertaken in accordance within the provisions of these documents, 
and any conditions specified therein. Operations may be subject to inspection by the 
Regulator, and enforcement notices issued if operations are found to be in 
contravention of permits and approvals. The Regulator should be satisfied that the 
correct nature of waste is incinerated, in accordance with planning and / or 
permitting conditions”.

7.26 The incinerators are diesel fuelled. Regardless of the type of fuel used, the 
incinerator will achieve a temperature of 850ºC in the secondary combustion 
chamber for two seconds.  Complete combustion is achieved and hence all carbon-
based compounds will form carbon dioxide and water.  The choice of fuel is thus 
considered immaterial in terms of potential emissions.  

7.27 The WPA is therefore satisfied with the advice and recommendations made by the 
AQA as provided within the body and of this report.

7.28 Some objectors raised concerns over the impact of pollutants on the fabric of listed 
buildings. The District Council has not objected or expressed a view that the 
proposal may affect listed buildings in the area in their responses. The WPA is 
satisfied that there is no impact of this development to any listed buildings from the 
statutory and other advice provided.

7.29 With regards to the potential for the proposal to have a negative impact on 
biodiversity and protected sites such as SSSI, NE is of the opinion that the 
‘proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on protected 
landscapes and designated sites and has no objection’.  This view is shared by the 
CEA, who does not consider that the proposals would negatively impact on 
biodiversity in the vicinity of the site, subject to the imposition of conditions.

7.30 Ash remaining after the completion of the combustion process has the potential to 
cause dust and airborne pollution if improperly handled. The amount of ash 
produced would be small, being between 3-5% mass per animal.  This material is 
classed as non-hazardous waste by the APHA Supervising Body and part of 
DEFRA, and would be disposed to a permitted landfill site, alternatively, the 

Page 51



36

proposal includes the provision of a cemetery facility to bury the ash remains of pets 
in a designated area. The remains will be contained in biodegradable containers 
which have been chosen to not cause any risk of pollution. 

7.31 There are no proposals to grind down any larger bone fragments found in the ash 
which would have the potential to create further noise and dust problems as 
mentioned by some objectors.  A planning condition will be imposed which requires 
the operation to be carried out in accordance with the details set out in the planning 
application and the Environmental Control Manual (ECM) to be submitted.  In 
addition a planning condition which removes permitted development rights would 
require the applicants to obtain planning permission prior to the acquisition of any 
new plant or equipment associated with this waste disposal process.  The WPA is 
satisfied that these two planning conditions would be sufficient to limit the scope of 
the operation to that set out in the application.  In addition the WPA considers that a 
personal planning condition which limits the operation only to the Applicants’ 
business would prevent the business being operated by another company with a 
different business model without first applying for planning permission.  The 
applicants are agreeable to the imposition of such a condition.

7.32 In the absence of any objections from NE, SDC’s EHO and based upon the advice 
received from the AQA, it is considered that the proposal accords with saved Policy 
37 (Proximity to Other Land Uses) of the Gloucestershire WLP, Policy ES3 of the 
Stroud District Local Plan and the aims and the objectives of NPPF paragraph 7 
which seeks to build a strong and competitive economy, maintaining healthy and 
vibrant communities and protecting the environment.  Given that the low-capacity 
plant is regulated under the LAPPC pollution control regime.  The plant is subject to 
certification requirements of the Animal Health By-Products (Enforcement) 
(England) Regulations 2011, in line with the EU regulatory approach for such low-
risk installations.  

Criterion 8 Odours
7.33 There is a possibility of odour from both the burning of animal carcasses and from 

their storage on site, before they can be disposed of.  On the issue of odour, the 
AQA and Stroud District Council’s Air Quality officer are both of the opinion that 
there will be no adverse effects in terms of odour, with the proposal falling outside 
any requirement for an Environmental Permit, the operator is expected to adhere to 
the provisions of their ECM.

7.34 There should not be an issue of odour from the on-site storage of carcasses.  
Provided that the applicants adhere to the provisions of their ECM and the planning 
condition which would prevent the storage of carcasses outside the remit of the 
ECM, the proposal should not give rise to odours and is considered to comply with 
saved Policy 37 of the WLP.

Criterion 9 Vermin and birds
7.35 The applicants’ incinerator building is impermeable to birds and vermin as is the 

storage building.  Neither should therefore represent an attractant to pests.  After 
cremation, ash is the only residual waste product left in the incinerator which would 
need to be cleaned out ready for the next use and stored in a sealed container for 
either off site disposal or burial in the adjacent cemetery.  The incinerator is a closed 

Page 52



37

unit and impervious to flies, birds and vermin and is located within the confines of a 
building.  As there would be only short-term storage of carcasses with minimal 
deterioration, it is considered that there would be no issue with pests or vermin at 
the facility.  The EHO is satisfied that the provisions of the ECM can adequately 
control these issues.  These controls are considered to comply with saved Policy 37 
of the WLP.  

Criterion 10 Noise, light and vibration
7.36 The incineration process, carried out in accordance with the manufacturer’s 

instructions, should not cause vibration and is rated at 83 dba at 1 metre.  There 
should be no other processing associated with this disposal which would give rise to 
noise or vibration.  No additional external lighting is proposed.  The cremation will 
take place entirely within an existing building.  The removal of permitted 
development rights by planning condition and requirement of a planning condition to 
submit a lighting scheme in the event of a change to lighting provides the WPA with 
sufficient control over future activities which may create noise, vibration or light 
nuisance.

7.37 While the overall number of vehicle movements associated with this activity is 
considered by the HA to be low, a planning condition will be imposed which would 
restrict the hours of operation, including deliveries to preserve the amenity of the 
nearest residential properties. The applicant is agreeable to this operational hours 
planning condition.  

7.38 In considering noise impact, planning authorities should be mindful of the guidance 
relating to noise in paragraph 180 of the NPPF.  The DEFRA Noise Policy 
Statement for England (NPSE) is referred to in the NPPF and this sets out that 
government policy is to “avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life” due to noise.

7.39 Based upon the supporting information submitted in connection with noise, no 
objection has been raised by consultees, especially the EHO at SDC, who advises 
on matters pertaining to public health and environmental control.  

7.40 The proposals are therefore not expected to have an adverse noise impact on the 
amenity of the surrounding areas.  The proposal is considered to comply with 
paragraph 180 of the NPPF by limiting the impact of noise from the development 
through a planning condition which will prevent operation until such time as the 
noise from the development has been demonstrated to be within acceptable limits.

Criterion 11 Litter 
7.41 The proposal is not considered to be a type of disposal which would lead to litter 

being blown from the site.  There is no proposal to dispose of or store any other type 
of waste material on the application site other than that specified in the application.  
The imposition of a planning condition which limits the disposal of waste types to 
only those specified in the planning application is considered an appropriate method 
of mitigation which would comply with saved Policy 37 of the WLP.  

Criterion 12 Potential land use conflict

Page 53



38

7.42 Some objectors have referred to this proposal as introducing an industrialised 
activity which is not suited to the protected landscape of the Cotswolds AONB, a 
rural location or one close to residential properties, users of the footpath or public 
open space.  There has been suggestions that if such a facility is required then it 
should be sent to other existing crematoria and landfills outside of the AONB.  

7.43 Landscape Policy WCS14 of the WCS requires the applicants to demonstrate that 
there is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the market need.  
The applicants have been operating at this site since 1992. The principle of the use 
of the land for animal cremations is therefore long stablished. There are alternative 
means of disposing of dead animals available and there is a cremation facility with 
capacity at Fosse Cross that is within the AONB.  Given that the proposed waste 
throughput would be small and would be subject to planning conditions which limit 
the scale of disposal to an ancillary operation of the applicants’ operations through 
the use of a condition, the proposal is considered to provide a local service for the 
clients of the practice which would not have a negative impact on the AONB or merit 
refusal on policy grounds. 

7.44 As the proposed animal cremations take place within the confines of an existing 
building with only a minor external change to the use of an agricultural field which 
would neither impact on the separation of settlements or on the countryside, the 
WPA considers that the proposal would comply generally with this policy by 
providing a facility for the horse owning community and supporting rural leisure 
activities.  In the case of Dignity Funerals Ltd v Breckland District Council [2017] 
EWHC 1492 (Admin) for the erection of a new crematorium, Mr Justice Holgate 
considered that, “Conflict with one particular policy may be treated as having an 
adverse impact and yet of relatively little weight. At the same time, the decision-
maker may consider that compliance with other policies designed to secure that 
development in general takes place without causing significant harm to a range of 
environmental factors, does involve a greater degree of compliance with the 
development plan than the non-compliance. The decision-maker is entitled to regard 
compliance with those policy considerations (even in the sense of simply avoiding 
harm) as having a greater priority or importance than the noncompliance with a 
policy designed to protect one other aspect, such as the landscape.”

7.45 The WPA considers that planning permission including a condition limiting 
operations to specified types of waste is justified on the grounds that the applicants 
have successfully demonstrated a demand for a specialised disposal service, within 
a localised area.  

7.46 The applicants have demonstrated with information submitted as part of this 
application to the satisfaction of the statutory consultees that this waste disposal 
operation can be carried out on this site without detriment to the visual or residential 
amenity of the area or to the wider environment in accordance with national and 
local planning policies as set out under the preceding headings.  

Other Matters Raised:

Need for Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)

Page 54



39

7.47 There have been objections from local residents and Bisley with Lypiatt Parish 
Council that the planning application should be accompanied by an EIA.  In 
accordance with the EIA Regulations the WPA has carried out a screening exercise 
of the environmental impacts of the proposal in consultation with statutory 
consultees and is of the opinion that the development would not have a significant 
effect on the environment to warrant the production of an EIA.  The applicants have 
provided information as part of this planning application which has been considered 
by the statutory consultees to provide sufficient detail for them to be able to assess 
the impact of the proposal and which are proportionate to the scale of the activity 
proposed. 

Lack of local support
7.48 In assessing the proposal, due regard has been given to the views expressed by 

local residents.  Planning decisions should not be made on the basis of the number 
of representations made either for or against a proposal.  The Localism Act 2011 
has not changed this, nor has it changed the advice that local opposition or support 
for a proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission 
unless it is founded on valid planning reasons.  

Accuracy of plans
7.49 A comment from a consultee highlighted that the site plan contained with the 

submitted supporting statement is incorrect as it did not represent correctly the on 
site parking provision.  The WPA clarified which plans are to be referred to with the 
applicant and is satisfied that the approved site plan accurately shows the correct 
provision and location of on site parking places. 

Quality and Validity of the Environmental Control Manual (ECM)

7.50 The applicants are to submit an ECM by the imposition of a planning condition in 
order to control the disposal operation, to ensure that all matters relating to the 
prevention of pollution and disease can be included in its provisions for final 
approval by the WPA.

Human Rights
7.51 From 2nd October 2000 the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of enshrining 

much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law. Under 6(1) of the 
Act, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way which is incompatible with a 
convention right.  A person who claims that a public authority has acted (or 
proposes to act) in a way which is made unlawful by Section 6(1) and that he is (or 
would be) a victim of the unlawful act, may bring proceedings against the authority 
under the Act in the appropriate court or tribunal, or may rely on the convention right 
or rights concerned in any legal proceedings.

7.52 The main Convention rights relevant when considering planning proposals are 
Article 1 of the First Protocol (the peaceful enjoyment of property) and Article 8 (the 
right to a private and family life).  Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the right 
to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 
guarantees a right to respect for private and family life.  Article 8 also provides that 
there shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right 
except as in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society in the 

Page 55



40

interests of national security, public safety, or the economic wellbeing of the country, 
for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for 
the protection of the freedom of others.

7.53 34 objections have been received from members of the public and both relevant 
Parish Councils have objected.  The concerns raised within those objections have 
been addressed in the report above.  For the reasons set out in the planning 
observations it is not thought there would be any breach of the convention rights.  
Even if there was considered to be an interference with convention rights then, in 
this case, it is thought that the interference would be justified in the interests of 
public safety and for the protection of the health of the wider community.  
Accordingly, it would not be unlawful to grant planning permission for this 
development.

Conclusions and summary reasons for the grant of planning permission 

7.54 This proposal is concerned with a relatively small and specialised waste disposal 
activity, both in terms of size and scale of the processing plant and throughput of 
waste material.  The cremations would take place within an existing building and the 
proposal also involves the small scale and low impact development of an adjoining 
field into a pet cemetery. The proposal has however generated a large number of 
objections from local people mainly with concerns over adverse impacts on health 
and their environment. Other than the two Parish Councils and the Local County 
Councillor, there have been no objections raised from statutory consultees to the 
proposals. 

7.55 The proposal being of such small scale, would not be regulated by the EA under an 
Environmental Permit regime but instead would be regulated by the District Council 
Environmental Health Officer.  While local concern is being expressed about the 
impacts of a lack of proper control and management of the operation, these are 
matters which have the potential to be controlled by planning conditions and 
separate pollution control regimes.   The NPPF’s focus is on acceptable land uses.  
While a number of concerns have been raised by the local community to this 
application, all the matters have been considered and addressed in turn through 
paragraphs 7.4 to 7.53 of this report.  A planning decision should assume that all the 
proper pollution controls operate effectively as identified in the NPPF and NPPW.    

7.56 While there are no specific policies in the WCS for this waste type, the proposal is 
considered to be in accordance with Policy WCS1 where the presumption in favour 
of development applies unless there are material considerations which indicate 
otherwise.  Having regard to the applicable policies in the NPPF and locational 
criteria for waste sites set out in the NPPW, the proposal is considered to comply 
with national planning policies and policies of the Development Plan for 
Gloucestershire which are relevant.  All issues raised through the application 
process have been carefully considered and appropriate mitigation can be made 
which has satisfied statutory consultees that the impacts of the development can be 
controlled within acceptable limits.  

Positive and Proactive Statement

Page 56



41

7.57 In determining this planning application, the WPA has worked with the applicants in 
a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions to problems arising in 
relation to dealing with the planning application by liaising with consultees, 
respondents and the applicants/agent discussing changes to the proposal where 
considered appropriate or necessary.  This approach has been taken positively and 
proactively in accordance with the requirement in the NPPF, as set out in the Town 
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
(Amendment No.2) Order 2012.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

8.1 That planning permission be GRANTED for the reasons set out in paragraphs 7.54 
to 7.56 and subject to the following conditions:

Commencement

BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
 Planning application forms and accompanying plans for application reference 

20/0056/STMAW are available on the Council’s Public Access website along with EIA 
Screening Opinion and consultation responses.  Letters of Representations are 
available to view by appointment on the application file if not made online.

CONTACT OFFICER:
Case Officer – Nick Bainton, Senior Planner 
Email: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01452 425711

CONDITIONS

 1 Commencement

The development hereby approved shall commence not later than 3 years beginning 
with the date of this permission. 

Reason: To comply with section 91 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

 2 Scope of the Development

Unless otherwise required by conditions attached to this permission, the 
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 
planning application 20/0056/STMAJW and its accompanying Supporting 
Statement, dated October 2020; Transport Assessment produced by Apex 
Transport Planning (Document ref. C20041/TS01) dated 16th October 2020; 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal produced by Soltys Brewster Ecology dated 
October 2020; Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal (Revision A) produced by 
WYG and dated October 2020 (19th January 2021); Technical Specifcations for 

Page 57

mailto:planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk


42

Surefire Equine / Communal Pet Cremator Model ref SA50/3V produced by 
Matthews Environmental Solutions (Document ref. MQ27561.1.PCS dated 23rd July 
2018 and the following approved drawings: 

-  R431-00-A3 Site Location Plan: dated June 2019;
-  R431-01-A3 Existing Site Plan: dated 05/19;
-  R431-02-A3 Proposed Site Plan: dated May 2019;
-  R431-10-A1 Proposed Site Block Plan: dated July 2020;
-  R431-12-A1 Elevations 1: dated July 2020;
-  R431-13-A1 Elevations 2: dated October 2020;
-  R431-14-A0 Proposed Plans (Barn Storage): dated October 2020;
-  R431-15-A2 Proposed Plans and Office Elevations: dated October 2020;
-  S20022 001.1 Topographical Survey 1/4: dated May 20;
-  S20022 001.2 Topographical Survey 2/4: dated May 20;
-  S20022 001.3 Topographical Survey 3/4: dated May 20;
-  S20022 001.4 Topographical Survey 4/4: dated May 20;

Reason:  In order to define the scope of this permission in accordance with Policy 
WCS1, WCS10, WCS14 and WCS17 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core 
Strategy, saved Policies 33, 37 and 38 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 
2002-2012, along with policies CP1, CP3, CP14, CP15, EI4, ES1, ES3, ES6, ES7 
and ES9 of the adopted Stroud District Local Plan (2015) and the aims and 
objectives that the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and 
promote.

 3 Nature of Waste

The permission for the disposal of animal carcasses by incineration shall exist only 
for animals which have collected by Time Right Limited or carcasses brought to the 
site by owners for disposal by Time Right Limited. No other waste is permitted to be 
disposed of on the application site, including other clinical waste which will be 
disposed of at offsite locations. 

Reason:  In the interests of neighbouring amenity and in accordance with saved 
policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, policy CP15 of the Stroud District 
Local Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy Framework 
seeks to protect and promote.

 4 All animal carcasses shall be delivered to and stored within the approved building in 
compliance with the Waste Permit issued by the Environment Agency (or any 
successor organisation).  

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and for the avoidance of attracting 
pests and vermin in pursuant to saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local 
Plan, policy CP15 of the Stroud District Local Plan and the aims and interests that 
the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and promote.

 5 Hours of Operation

Page 58



43

The operation of the incineration equipment, and all associated operations, including 
reception opening hours and times of deliveries shall only take place between the 
hours of 8:00 and 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on 
Saturdays and not at all on Sundays, Bank Holidays or public holidays.

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and in accordance with saved 
policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, policy CP15 of the Stroud District 
Local Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy Framework 
seeks to protect and promote.

 6 Permitted Development

Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 2, Class C; Part 7, Class I; Part 
7, Class L; Part 14, Class O and Part 16, Class A of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order replacing, 
amending or re-enacting that order), no extension or alterations to the building or 
the external appearance of the flue stack hereby permitted whether or not for a 
temporary period shall take place without planning approval from the Waste 
Planning Authority.

Reason: There is a need to maintain control over additional plant and machinery in 
the interests of the amenity of the area, nature conservation and in accordance with 
saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (adopted Oct 2004), policy 
WCS10 and WCS14 of Gloucestershire's adopted Waste Core Strategy (adopted 
Nov 2012), saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and policy ES7 
of the Stroud District Local Plan, along with the aims and objectives that the 
National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and promote.

7 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 3, Class I of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
order replacing, amending or re-enacting that order), no other activity within Use 
Class B2 shall be carried out within the land shown edged red on approved drawing 
R431-02-A3, other than that approved by this permission.

Reason: There is a need to maintain control over the introduction of any 
inappropriate activity in the interests of the amenity of the area, nature conservation 
and in accordance with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 
(adopted Oct 2004), policy WCS10 and WCS14 of Gloucestershire's adopted Waste 
Core Strategy (adopted Nov 2012), saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste 
Local Plan and policy ES7 of the Stroud District Local Plan, along with the aims and 
objectives that the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and 
promote.

8 Highways

The visibility splays at the junction of the private lane and the public highway shall 
be maintained at all times. All boundary planting treatment or management 
necessary for safe access to and from the development hereby permitted will be 
performed by the applicant. Should the Local Highway Authority deem at any time 
that management works are required to maintain a safe point of access onto the 

Page 59



44

public highway network, this shall be completed by the applicant within 14 days of 
any such formal request being made.

Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate visibility is 
provided and maintained and to ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists and 
pedestrians is provided in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
paragraph 108.

9 The 10 no. parking spaces shown on approved plan R431-10-A1 shall be 
maintained for use for vehicle parking throughtout the course of the development 
hereby approved. No visitors shall park on the acces road to the development, nor 
on the public highway and cause any obstruction. 

Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate parking 
capacity is provided and maintained on site and to ensure that a safe, suitable and 
secure means of access for all people that minimises the conflict between traffic and 
cyclists and pedestrians is provided in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraph 108.

10 External Lighting

No further external lighting shall be installed or existing lighting amended within the 
land shown red on the approved plan R431-00-A3.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residents in accordance with 
policy WCS10 and WCS14 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, saved 
policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, along with policy CP14 and ES7 
of the adopted Stroud District Local Plan (November 2015).

11 Environmental Control Manual

Within 6 weeks from the date of this permission, the applicants shall submit for 
formal approval in writing by the Waste Planning Authority, an Environmental 
Control Manual which shall set out the steps to be taken on an ongoing basis to:-

a) control the potential odour and noise impacts related to the reception and storage 
of carcasses at the facility;
b) control pests at the facility, i.e. rodents and insects;
c) undertake operation of the incinerators to ensure that it meets the specified 
expected emissions criteria set out in the submitted incinerator technical document;
d) monitor for smoke and smell in the locality of the incinerator;
e) control the disposal of waste from the incinerator and associated equipment; and
f) undertake maintenance and servicing of the incinerator and associated equipment 
in line with the manufacturer's instructions.
g) ensure that all fuels and potential pollutants are kept within a bunded location 
capable of holding at least 110% of all combined flueds stored therein.

Page 60



45

The approved details shall remain in force for the duration of the development 
hereby approved.

Reason:  To ensure that appropriate environmental control measures are in place in 
the interest of safeguarding the amenity of neighbouring residents and occupiers, 
along with the character and setting of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty in accordance with policy WCS14 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste 
Core Strategy, saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, along with 
policy CP14 of the adopted Stroud District Local Plan (November 2015).

12 Noise 

Noise emitted from the operations shall not exceed 55 dba LAeq (1Hr) at the closest 
noise sensitive property.  

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of nearby residential 
properties and the tranquility of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
pursuant to saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, policy CP15 of 
the Stroud District Local Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning 
Policy Framework seeks to protect and promote.

13 Pollution Control

Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious 
bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there 
is multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the 
largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels 
plus 10%. All filling points, associated pipework, vents, gauges and sight glasses 
must be located within the bund or have separate secondary containment. The 
drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, 
land or underground strata. Associated pipework shall be located above ground and 
protected from accidental damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe 
outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund.

Reason:  To protect ground and surface waters ('controlled waters' as defined under 
the Water Resources Act 1991).

14 Disinfectant Disposal
Within 6 weeks from the date of this permission, a document detailing the provisions 
for the disposal of disinfectant wash-down following the transportation of a carcass 
shall been submitted to the Waste Planning Authority. Once approved, the 
development shall comply at all times with the method of disposal as detailed in that 
document.

Reason: To protect ground and surface waters ('controlled waters' as defined under 
the Water Resources Act 1991).

15 Permitted Memorials

Page 61



46

Only memorials laid horizontally shall be permitted within the pet cemetary, set so 
that no part of the memorial extends more than 10cm above the plane of the 
surrounding natural ground levels. No reflective memorials or memorials capable of 
emitting noise shall be permitted on the land. The maximum depth for excavation to 
allow for any burial of cremated pet remains is 4 feet below the surrounding natural 
ground level. 
 

Reason: There is a need to maintain control over the introduction of any potentially 
inappropriate landscape features in the interests of the amenity of the Cotswold 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, nature conservation and in accordance with 
saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (adopted Oct 2004), policy 
WCS10 and WCS14 of Gloucestershire's adopted Waste Core Strategy (adopted 
Nov 2012), saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and policy ES7 
of the Stroud District Local Plan, along with the aims and objectives that the 
National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Ecology

16. No later than three months after commencement of the development a Landscape 
and Aftercare Management Scheme based on section 5.5 of the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal and pages 6 and 13 of the Planning Statement shall be 
submitted for approval in writing by the Waste Planning Authority and then 
implemented as approved. The scheme shall include methods of establishment and 
the aftercare management for at least the next 5 years. Planted vegetation for 
natural areas and features must be of trees, shrubs, grass and herbaceous species 
of native species and origin.

Reason: To conserve and enhance landscape and biodiversity value in accordance
with Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS15, Local Plan Policy ES6,
ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 8, 
170 and 175.

17. No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st March and 
31st August inclusive unless an ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check 
of the vicinity concerned for active bird nests. No such woody vegetation should be 
cleared or trimmed back unless the ecologist has given confirmation that no birds or 
viable eggs will be harmed or that there are appropriate measures in place to 
protect any identified nesting birds on the site. If any such measures are required 
these should be copied in writing in advance to the County Ecological Advisor to 
GCC as Planning Authority for information and then implemented.

Reason: To ensure that breeding birds are protected as required by law and in
accordance with Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS15, Local Plan
Policy ES6, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy Framework
paragraphs 170 and 175.

18. All excavations should be filled in as soon as is practicable. Any excavations left 
open on site overnight are to be secured and covered or designed with one sloped 
side or ramp in place.

Page 62



47

Reason: As a precaution to ensure the site is made safe for animals including those
legally protected from becoming trapped within excavations. In accordance with
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS15, Local Plan Policy ES6, ODPM
Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 170 and 175.

 

INFORMATIVES :-

  Advice Notes:

1. This informative is given as a reminder of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended) which makes it an offence to kill, injure or take any wild bird, and to 
intentionally remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in 
use or being built. It is also an offence to take or destroy any wild bird eggs. Bats 
and their roosts are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and also the Conservation (Natural Habitats & c.) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended).  Bats and birds can sometimes be found in or on many buildings, even 
those that initially appear to be unsuitable.

2. The site is adjacent to the terminus of a public right of way (Brimscombe and 
Lypiatt Footpath 1) and this permission does not authorise additional use by motor 
vehicles, or obstruction, or diversion which would require separate approval by the 
Public Rights of Way section of the County Council.

3. The EA wish to make the applicant aware of the Regulatory Position 
Statement (RPS) regarding the burial of pet ashes (to be accessed via the link 
below);  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-
spread-ash-regulatory-position-statement/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-
regulatory-position-statement

If the criteria stipulated within the RPS cannot be met the applicant must apply to 
the Environment Agency for a bespoke permit to bury or spread ash.  The applicant 
is advised to contact us if they need further advice regarding this.

4. In addition to the above RPS and weblinks, we would like to refer the 
applicant to our groundwater position statements in ‘The Environment Agency’s 
approach to groundwater protection’, available from the gov.uk. website here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-position-
statements This publication sets out our position for a wide range of activities and 
developments, including:

 Waste management
 Discharge of liquid effluents
 Land contamination
 Cemetery developments
 Drainage

 

Page 63

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-regulatory-position-statement/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-regulatory-position-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-regulatory-position-statement/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-regulatory-position-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-regulatory-position-statement/pet-cemeteries-bury-and-spread-ash-regulatory-position-statement
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/waste-environmental-permits#how-to-apply-for-a-bespoke-permit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-position-statements
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-position-statements


This page is intentionally left blank



1

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PROGRESS REPORT

Planning Committee - 8th July 2021

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To identify the level and nature of enforcement activity undertaken by the 
Planning Enforcement team (including as Minerals and Waste Planning 
Authority) in 2021, up to and including 8th June, and comparative to previous 
years.

1.2 To identify progress on planning enforcement matters raised as ‘Regulation 3 
Development’, i.e. where the County Council is either the landowner, in control of 
the land, or the activity relates to the Council’s functions.

1.3 To provide further details regarding the planning enforcement service, how it 
operates, and other work undertaken.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Gloucestershire County Council employs one-full time Planning Enforcement 
Officer, covering the whole of Gloucestershire, based in the Planning and 
Development Management (PDM) team. The role exists to investigate alleged 
breaches of planning regulations, work with those responsible to resolve any 
issues identified, and consider appropriate action where identified breaches 
cannot be remedied through other approaches.

2.2 The expectation of a Planning Enforcement service is often that action can and 
should be taken immediately to reverse unauthorised development or address 
unlawful activity. While this may be possible for the most serious and urgent of 
matters, the reality is that a Planning Enforcement Officer spends the vast 
majority of his/her time in resolving matters through investigation, negotiation, 
and persuasion. The scope of this work at Gloucestershire County Council is set 
out in section 4 of this Report.

2.3 Formal enforcement action is sometimes necessary as a last resort, and the 
Council’s commitment to taking such legal actions is set out in its Planning 
Enforcement Plan. However, this last resort should only be considered when 
necessary evidence relating to a breach has been clearly gathered, the harm 
caused by its impact is demonstrable, and where the Council decides it is 
expedient, in the public interest, and legally sound to pursue such action. Failure 
to do so may result in judicial review proceedings and/or financial penalties 
against the Council, as well as reputational damage.  

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



2

2.4 Further explanation of how the service operates is set out in the Planning 
Enforcement Plan brought before Members in January 2019, and supported by a 
set of Customer Service Standards. Officer(s) consistently work to, and meet, 
these standards.

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-
enforcement/planning-enforcement-plan/

2.5 A review of this Plan will commence before the end of this year, to reflect 
changing work practices, legislation and regulations. Along with a wide range of 
partners, Members will be invited to comment on how the service operates and 
any changes proposed, and these will be considered within the final version of 
the amended Plan.

2.6 Enforcement Progress Reports have been produced for Planning Committee in 
its current format since November 2018. The aim has been to keep the 
information summarised, while highlighting any specific matters that might be of 
interest. Members are invited to consider whether they require any additional 
information or alternative format to the report.

3.0 THE PLANNING ENFORCEMENT SERVICE DURING COVID19

3.1 The service mostly continues to operate as set out in section 2 of this report, 
albeit remotely, as for many Council services, mainly from a home office.

3.2     Site visits have been undertaken as required, but restricted to some extent with 
social distancing and other rules observed as outlined in COVID 19 guidelines, 
and at stages over the last year only with the prior permission of the Lead 
Commissioner, Strategic Infrastructure.  

3.3 Since 2020 the Government has issued a number of Ministerial Statements 
which have, under certain criteria and where justified, temporarily relaxed a 
number of planning rules. For example, more flexible delivery hours have been 
allowed where deemed to be an essential service, and where the need can be 
demonstrated by the operator.

4.0 CURRENT CASELOAD

4.1 The following is a summary of enforcement activity for 2021, up to 8th June:

 40 new enquiries received leading to formal investigation;
 28 investigations resolved or otherwise concluded;
 50 investigations are ongoing, and a total of 78 different cases have been 

worked on to date in 2021;

Page 66

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/planning-enforcement-plan/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/planning-enforcement-plan/


3

 An additional 24 general enquiries, reports or complaints have been received 
and answered, which although requiring some assessment, did not require full 
investigation.

4.2 The graph below identifies planning enforcement caseload during the past 4 
years

4.3 Some care should be taking in drawing conclusions from numbers of cases 
alone. Some investigations can be complex and take many months to resolve 
while others will be quick and easy to resolve, especially where good working 
relationships with operators have been established. The above graph also relies 
on a projection until the end of 2021 that is likely to change as the year 
progresses.

4.4 However, some trends emerge:

 The number of enquiries requiring investigation is rising year on year; this is 
largely outside of the control of the PDM team as complaints mostly originate 
from members of the public. An efficient Minerals Site Conditions Monitoring 
service should help reduce this number by addressing any identified breaches of 
condition at an early stage, and resolving with the operator without need for an 
enforcement investigation. However, only a small handful of visits have taken 
place since early 2020 due to restrictions on site visits and the availability of the 
Monitoring Officer due to working on other team priorities such as dealing with 
planning application casework due to team illness.  

 The number of cases concluded remains constant at just over 60 a year, 
reflecting the capacity of the Enforcement Officer to investigate and resolve 
matters raised with him. While the PDM team ‘closes’ its own investigations, it 
only does so on the basis of a full investigation and sound reasons for closure, 
and with the agreement of the PDM manager.

Page 67



4

 The year on year discrepancy between the number of new investigations 
undertaken and those concluded has resulted in more cases being ‘carried over’ 
into each year, resulting in a continually increasing workload. 

 Workload is currently ‘manageable’, especially as no formal legal actions are 
taking place; these tend to absorb a large proportion of an Enforcement Officer’s 
time. This matter will remain under review, particularly taking into account the 
projections for the rest of 2021    

4.5 The following identifies some of the specific work being undertaken by the 
Enforcement Officer: 

 Ford village and surrounding area – The PDM team is working with other County 
Council teams including Gloucestershire Highways to address issues over 
transport, and environmental concerns such as noise and dust in the immediate 
area. As part of this the Planning Enforcement Officer has been monitoring 
operational conditions on quarries in the area, working alongside District Council 
Environmental Health teams as necessary.           

 Wingmoor Biosolids (West) - The Enforcement Officer is working closely with the 
operator to ensure that pre-commencement (and all other) site conditions are 
complied with before liming operations begin.

 Manor Farm - The Planning Enforcement Officer is working closely to resolve 
issues around standing water in quarry voids, progress of the restoration 
scheme, and compliance with the agreed working phase plan. Considerable 
progress has been made since January this year.

 SDL Biomass (Westington) – Planning permission has recently been given to 
reflect updated operations on site, which are subject to a number of conditions. 
The Planning Enforcement Officer is working with the business operator to 
address a number of unresolved matters.

4.6     In addition to responding to specific allegations and identified breaches of      
planning regulations, the following additional work has been undertaken:

 Environment Agency (EA) – With an increasing number of illegal waste disposal 
operations taking place - particularly since the beginning of 2020, increasing 
effort has been placed on referral and joint working arrangements with the EA, 
who are normally the lead enforcers for these types of activity. The Planning 
Enforcement Officer is now holding periodic meetings with colleagues at the EA 
to discuss any reports received by the Council and referred onto them. This 
includes the offer of any practical support (e.g. investigatory work) where 
resources and remit allow.

 Member training – enforcement is a key element of the planning system, but one 
whose powers are very closely defined through legislation, judicial process and 
regulatory guidance. The opportunity to explain how this service works at 
Gloucestershire County Council, in the above context, was welcomed.

5.0     FORMAL ACTION

Page 68



5

5.1 When the Council’s requirements are not met, following a reasonable period 
given for compliance, and where the identified breach causes significant harm, 
then formal action will be considered to remedy the situation. This usually 
involves service of a Notice and/or prosecution.

5.2 To note some formal actions are in progress in the County but no details can be 
provided at present so as not to prejudice any potential outcomes. In such 
circumstances the planning team work closely with the County’s legal team. 
Members will be updated in such circumstances when such matters are 
concluded.

5.3 Lyndor’s Farm – the Planning Enforcement Officer has been active in providing 
support as a key witness for the lead enforcer, the Environment Agency, and 
formal actions they are undertaking.

6.0     ‘REGULATION 3’ MATTERS

6.1 The County Council is rightly expected to investigate complaints relating to its 
own land or services, and approach their resolution in the same way as it would 
for any other breach of planning control reported. In order to demonstrate this 
transparency, reports to committee will identify all such investigations, setting out 
progress, latest position and outcome.  

6.2 There are currently no outstanding planning investigations under way in relation 
to any ‘Regulation 3’ land or development

7.0 CONCLUSION

7.1 The performance of the Planning Enforcement team is set out in sections 3.0 to 
6.0 and demonstrates Gloucestershire County Council’s commitment to 
investigating and resolving breaches of planning control in line with the 
provisions of the Planning Enforcement Plan. It also sets out some of the 
challenges to delivering the service, including capacity, and arrangements under 
COVID19.

7.2 A total of 50 cases are currently under investigation. In addition to any further 
enquiries received, the Planning Enforcement Officer will continue to work to try 
and resolve or meet a satisfactory outcome on as many of these cases as 
possible.

7.3 As well as having the ongoing facility to raise any matter with the Planning 
Enforcement Officer, members are invited to comment on how the service 
operates and is reported, as set out in sections 2.5 and 2.6.

Page 69



6

CONTACT OFFICER:

Andy Birchley - Senior Planning Officer (Enforcement)
andy.birchley@gloucestershire.gov.uk

07795 061 664

Page 70

mailto:andy.birchley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1

Delegated Decisions 11th March 2021 to 24th June 2021
County Matters

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision
19/0069/STMAJW Change of use of agricultural buildings & 

yard area to use for processing, 
recycling and storage of inert waste.

Watsome Farm
County Boundary To Charfield Road
Kingswood
Gloucestershire
GL12 8SP

07/04/2021 Consent

19/0072/CWMAJM Variation of conditions 12(exportation 
of stone) and 13(crushing) to allow a 3-
year temporary period for the 
processing and removal from site of 
excess unusable building stone 
materials from phases 1 & 2 to address 
operational issues relating to high 
quantities of waste on site  relating to 
planning consent 16/0012/CWMAJM 
dated 26/05/2016.

Tinkers Barn Quarry
Guiting Power
Gloucestershire
GL54 5UF

17/03/2021 Consent

20/0013/CWMAJW Variation of conditions 11(Hours of 
operation), 12(Starting engines), 
14(Hours of haulage), 15(Hours of 
haulage) and 26(Building 2) relating to 
planning consent 19/0027/CWMAJW 
dated 27/01/2020.

Westington Quarry
Conduit Hill
Chipping Campden
Gloucestershire
GL55 6UR

10/05/2021 Consent

20/0063/FDMAJW Variation to remove condition 
4(Landscaping and Aftercare Scheme) 
relating to planning consent 
19/0021/FDMAJW dated 23/05/2019.

Newent Sewage Treatment Works
Cleeve Mill Lane
Newent
Gloucestershire 
GL18 1EA

24/03/2021 Consent

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 10



2

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision
21/0002/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 

10(construction of the new access), 
18(Storage mounds), 19(Construction 
Traffic Management Plan), 30(Dust 
Management Plan), 39(Operational 
Ecological Management Plan) and 
46(Surface Water Drainage) relating to 
planning consent 19/0089/CWMAJM 
dated 22.10.2020.

'Loaders Barn'
Northcot Brick Ltd
Station Road
Blockley
Gloucestershire
GL56 9LH

19/05/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0004/SCREEN Screening request to vary condition 2, 3 
and 9 of planning permission 
19/0009/CWMAJM dated 19.03.2020 to 
allow recycling of imported inert 
material.

Farmington Stone Quarry
Farmington
Gloucestershire
GL54 3NZ

04/05/2021 Screening/Sco
ping Opinion 
Issued

21/0012/SCREEN Screening request for a proposed waste 
transfer facility.

Land At Sudmeadow Scrap Yard
Sudmeadow Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire 
GL2 5HG

23/03/2021 Screening/Sco
ping Opinion 
Issued

21/0023/COMPLI Compliance with condition 51(Highway 
Signage) relating to planning consent 
19/0072/CWMAJM dated 17/03/2021.

Tinkers Barn Quarry
Guiting Power
Gloucestershire 
GL54 5UF

19/05/2021 Consent

P
age 72



3

Regulation 3 Applications
Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision

20/0028/GLREG3 The replacement of 1960's windows 
and curtain walling, and the installation 
of a new lift.

Shire Hall
Westgate Street
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL1 2TG

01/06/2021 Consent

20/0054/TWR3MJ Provision of a new 75 pupil place SEMH 
school, including outdoor formal and 
informal play, car parking and 
infrastructure.

Land At Henley Bank School (North 
Of Mill Lane)
Mill Lane
Brockworth
Gloucester
Gloucestershire GL3 4QF

23/03/2021 Consent

20/0073/CHR3MJ Variation of condition 2 (scope of 
development) to amend the parking 
layout, pedestrian access, cladding 
material and canopy; condition 11 
(highway improvements) to remove 
pedestrian crossing and install bollards 
approved in planning consent 
19/0026/CHR3M

Leckhampton C Of E Primary School
Hall Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL53 0HP

11/05/2021 Consent

20/0075/NONMAT Non-material amendment for amending 
the hedgerow removal on site to 
accommodate construction phasing on 
site new plan P190501-PPG-00-00-DR-L-
0001 Rev G  supersedes P19-0501_03 
Rev A, relating to planning consent 
19/0058/CHR3MJ dated 21/07/2020.

Land Between
Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

17/03/2021 Non Material 
Amendment

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision

P
age 73



4

21/0005/CHREG3 Installation of 1.2m high metal fence Leckhampton C Of E Primary School
Hall Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL53 0HP

25/03/2021 Consent

21/0007/GLREG3 Installation of roof mounted solar PV 
panels covering an additional 429 
square metres.

Site Of The Former Quayside House
Quay Street
Gloucester
Gloucestershire 
GL1 2TZ

11/05/2021 Consent

21/0009/COMPLI Compliance with condition 12(Building 
Materials) relating to planning consent 
19/0058/CHR3MJ dated 21/07/2020.

Land Between
Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

16/03/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0013/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 6(External 
Lighting), 16(Drainage/Interceptor), 
20(Flood Management Plan) and 
21(Additional Information) relating to 
planning consent 20/0047/GLR3MJ 
dated 29.01.2021.

Quayside House
Quay Street
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL1 2TZ

13/05/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0016/CWREG3 Demolition of existing depot building 
and replacement with welfare unit & 
hot desk hub.

Highways Depot
2 Love Lane
Cirencester
Gloucestershire GL7 1YG

23/06/2021 Consent

21/0017/NONMAT Non-material amendment for changes 
to appendices B & C to the construction 
method statement relating to planning 
consent 20/0032/CHR3MJ dated 
12/03/21

Land Between
Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

21/05/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision

P
age 74



5

21/0021/COMPLI Compliance with condition 
15(contaminated land) relating to 
planning consent 20/0054/TWR3MJ 
dated 23.03.2021.

Land At Henley Bank School (North 
Of Mill Lane)
Mill Lane
Brockworth
Gloucester
Gloucestershire GL3 4QF

07/05/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0025/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 9 (Waste 
Minimisation Statement), 12(Reptile, 
Amphibian & Mammal Methods 
Statement), 18(Archaeology), 20(Dust 
Management Plan), 21(Noise) & 
24(Land Contamination) relating to 
planning consent 18/0052/GLR3MJ 
dated 10.04.2019.

Gloucester South West Bypass 
(GSWB) 
Llanthony Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire

14/06/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0026/COMPLI Compliance with Conditions 
23(Archaeological Evaluation), 24(Site 
Waste Minimisation) relating to 
planning consent 20/0054/TWR3MJ 
dated 23.03.2021.

Land At Henley Bank School (North 
Of Mill Lane)
Mill Lane
Brockworth
Gloucester
Gloucestershire GL3 4QF

10/06/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0027/COMPLI Compliance with Condition 
21(Community Use Agreement) relating 
to planning consent 20/0002/TWR3MJ 
dated 17/06/2020.

Winchcombe Secondary School
Greet Road
Winchcombe
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL54 5LB

05/05/2021 Consent

21/0031/COMPLI Compliance with condition 
22(Mechanical & Electrical Noise 
Attenuation) relating to planning 
consent 20/0047/GLR3MJ dated 
29/01/2021.

Site Of The Former Quayside House
Quay Street
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL1 2TZ

13/05/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision

P
age 75



6

21/0033/COMPLI Compliance with condition 5 (Tree 
Planting Scheme) relating to planning 
consent 21/0005/CHREG3 dated 
25/03/2021

Leckhampton C Of E Primary School
Hall Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL53 0HP

06/05/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0036/NONMAT Non-material amendment relating to 
planning consent 20/0002/TWR3MJ 
dated 17/06/2020 to the location and 
wording of external signage on the new 
sports hall,  plan 3865-116D is 
superseded by 3865-116E.

Winchcombe Secondary School
Greet Road
Winchcombe
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL54 5LB

26/05/2021 Non Material 
Amendment

P
age 76


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of previous meeting
	8 Limekiln Farm Middle Lypiatt Stroud GL6 7LR  Application Reference: 20/0056/STMAJW (District Reference S.20/2711/CM)
	9 Enforcement Report
	10 Delegated Decisions Report

